& Herefordshire
O Council

Agenda

Health, Care and Wellbeing
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Monday 27 October 2025

Time: 2.00 pm

Place: Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, Plough
Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 OLE

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting.
For any further information please contact:

Henry Merricks-Murgatroyd, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01432 260239
Email: Henry.Merricks-Murgatroyd@herefordshire.gov.uk

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in
another format or language, please call Henry Merricks-Murgatroyd,
Democratic Services Officer on 01432 260239 or e-mail Henry.Merricks-
Murgatroyd@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the meeting.



Agenda for the Meeting of the Health, Care and
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Membership

Chairperson Councillor Pauline Crockett
Vice-Chairperson Councillor Kevin Tillett

Councillor Simeon Cole
Councillor Dave Davies
Councillor Mark Dykes
Councillor Richard Thomas
Councillor Rebecca Tully



Herefordshire Council 27 OCTOBER 2025

Agenda
Pages
5-10

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive apologies for absence.

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES
To receive details of any councillor nominated to attend the meeting in place
of a member of the committee.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.

4. MINUTES 11-14
To receive the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 28 July 2025.

HOW TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS

The deadline for the submission of questions for this meeting is 5.00 pm on
Tuesday 21 October 2025.

Questions must be submitted to councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk.
Questions sent to any other address may not be accepted.

Accepted questions and the responses will be published as a supplement to
the agenda papers prior to the meeting. Further information and guidance is
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved

5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
To receive any written questions from members of the public.

6. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
To receive any written questions from members of the council.

7. WYE VALLEY TRUST WINTER PLAN 2025/26 15-106
To consider the Wye Valley Trust’'s Winter Plan for 2025-26.

8. WORK PROGRAMME 2025-26 107 - 128
To consider the draft work programme for the Health, Care and Wellbeing
Scrutiny Committee until July 2026.

9. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING
Date of the next scheduled meeting: Monday 24 November 2025, 2.00 pm.



mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved




The public’s rights to information and attendance at meetings

You have aright to:

e Attend all council, cabinet, committee and sub-committee meetings unless the business to be
transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information.

¢ Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.
Agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) are available at
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings

¢ Inspect minutes of the council and all committees and sub-committees and written
statements of decisions taken by the cabinet or individual cabinet members for up to six
years following a meeting.

¢ Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to four
years from the date of the meeting (a list of the background papers to a report is given at the
end of each report). A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in
writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public.

e Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all councillors with
details of the membership of cabinet and of all committees and sub-committees. Information
about councillors is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors

e Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the council have delegated decision
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. The council’s constitution is
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution

e Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the
council, cabinet, committees and sub-committees and to inspect documents.

Recording of meetings

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that it
does not disrupt the business of the meeting.

Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you
should let the governance support team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware.

The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the
reporting to ensure that they comply.

The council may make a recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the council’s
website. Such videos are made available for members of the public via the council’s YouTube
channel at www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams

Public transport links

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford,
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station.

Bus maps are available here: www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps



http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution
https://www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps




. Herefordshire
O Council

The seven principles of public life

(Nolan Principles)

Selflessness

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

Integrity

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve
any interests and relationships.

Objectivity

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

Openness

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear
and lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty

Holders of public office should be truthful.

Leadership

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and

treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.






OFFICIAL

Guide to Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Committee membership
Scrutiny is a statutory role fulfilled by councillors who are not members of the cabinet.

The role of the scrutiny committees is to help develop policy, to carry out reviews of council and
other local services, and to hold decision makers to account for their actions and decisions.

Council has decided that there will be five scrutiny committees. The committees reflect the
balance of political groups on the council.

The Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee consists of 7 councillors.

Councillor Party

Pauline Crockett (Chairperson) Independents for Herefordshire
Simeon Cole Conservative Party

Dave Davies Conservative Party

Mark Dykes Liberal Democrats

Richard Thomas Conservative Party

Kevin Tillett (Vice-Chairperson) Liberal Democrats

Rebecca Tully The Green Party

Scrutiny functions
The committees have the power:

(@) to review, influence policy or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in
connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the
executive,

(b) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the executive,

(c) toreview or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the executive,

(d) to make reports or recommendations to council or the cabinet with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the executive,

(e) to make reports or recommendations to council or the cabinet on matters which affect the
authority's area or the inhabitants of that area,

(f)  to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions and to make
reports or recommendations to the council with respect to the discharge of those functions.
In this regard crime and disorder functions means:

() a strategy for the reduction of crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social
and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); and

(i) a strategy for combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the
area; and

(i) a strategy for the reduction of re-offending in the area

Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Updated 24 May 2024



OFFICIAL

(g) toreview and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the
health service in its area and make reports and recommendations to a responsible person
on any matter it has reviewed or scrutinised or to be consulted by a relevant NHS body or
health service provider in accordance with the Regulations (2013/218) as amended. In this
regard health service includes services designed to secure improvement

(i) inthe physical and mental health of the people of England, and
(i) in the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of physical and mental iliness, and

(i) any services provided in pursuance of arrangements under section 75 in relation to
the exercise of health-related functions of a local authority.

(h) to review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities of flood risk
management functions or coastal erosion risk management functions which may affect the
local authority's area.

() To track actions and undertake an annual effectiveness review

The remit of Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Adult social care (including adult safeguarding)

Health and wellbeing board

. Housing

Adults mental and physical health and wellbeing

Safe Herefordshire campaign

Outbreak control plan

New models of care accommodation

Talk Communities

Homelessness

All ages whole system commissioning strategy

Independent living services and assistive technology plan

Adults and communities budget and policy framework

Statutory health scrutiny powers including the review and scrutiny of any matter relating to
the planning provision and operation of health services affecting the area and to make
reports and recommendations on these matters

Who attends scrutiny committee meetings?
o Members of the committee, including the chairperson and vice-chairperson.

o Cabinet members, they are not members of the committee but attend principally to answer
any questions the committee may have and inform the debate.

Officers of the council to present reports and give technical advice to the committee.

People external to the council invited to provide information to the committee.

Other councillors can attend but can only speak at the discretion of the chairperson.

Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Updated 24 May 2024

10


http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=62&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IC11DDC30829111DBA731C284100B17B4

AGENDA ITEM 4

L. Herefordshire
O Council

Minutes of the meeting of the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny
Committee held in Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council,
Plough Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 OLE on Monday 28 July 2025
at 2.00 pm

Committee members  Councillors: Polly Andrews, Simeon Cole, Pauline Crockett
presentin person (Chairperson), Dave Davies, Richard Thomas, Kevin Tillett (Vice-
and voting: Chairperson) and Rebecca Tully

Others in attendance:

Z Clifford Director of Public Health Herefordshire Council
Councillor C Gandy Cabinet Member Adults, Health and  Herefordshire Council
Wellbeing
D Mehaffey Executive Director: Strategy, Health  NHS Herefordshire and Worcestershire
Inequalities and Integration Integrated Care Board
H Merricks-Murgatroyd Democratic Services Officer Herefordshire Council
A Rees-Glinos Democratic Services Support Officer Herefordshire Council
S Trickett Chief Executive NHS Herefordshire and Worcestershire
Integrated Care Board
D Webb Statutory Scrutiny Officer Herefordshire Council

63. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies were received from Clir Mark Dykes.
64. NAMED SUBSTITUTES
CliIr Polly Andrews was present as the named substitute for Clir Mark Dykes.
65. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
No declarations of interest were made.
66. MINUTES
The minutes of the previous meeting were received.

Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 May 2025 be confirmed as a
correct record.

67. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
No questions were received from members of the public.
68. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

No questions were received from councillors.

11




69.

INTEGRATED CARE BOARD RESET

The committee received a report on the Integrated Care Board (ICB) reset.

Simon Trickett, Chief Executive of NHS Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICB,
presented the key elements of the reset, supported by David Mehaffey, Executive
Director: Strategy, Health Inequalities and Integration.

The principal points of the discussion are summarised below:

1.

The government has introduced a new 10-year plan for the NHS, with a central
requirement for ICBs to reduce their running costs by 50%. For Herefordshire
and Worcestershire this equates to a 43% cut, amounting to £12m savings by
April 2026.

This will include a reduction of 150-200 posts, though these will be confined to
managerial and back-office functions. Frontline clinical roles will not be affected.

An expression of interest has been run in a voluntary redundancy scheme with
around 40 expressions of interest received to date. However, Treasury approval
for redundancy funding has not yet been finalised. Natural turnover and vacancy
management are expected to reduce compulsory redundancies.

To deliver efficiencies, Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICB will cluster with
Coventry and Warwickshire ICB. The two organisations will remain separate
statutory bodies, but a single executive team will operate across both areas. This
will stretch capacity but is considered necessary to meet savings targets.

Several members expressed concern that Herefordshire, as the smallest partner
in the new cluster, could lose influence. In response, the Chief Executive gave
reassurance that strong local authority representation would remain, highlighting
the active role of Herefordshire Council’s Chief Executive on the existing ICB
board.

Members emphasized that Herefordshire’s rural context is very different to urban
areas, and questioned whether ‘neighbourhood health hubs’ designed for
populations of 30-50,000 were suitable for market towns and rural communities.
In response, the Executive Director: Strategy, Health Inequalities and Integration
noted that national policy must be adapted to local geography, with outreach and
mobile provision considered.

Concern was raised about reliance on digital systems when some residents lack
broadband or smartphones. The Executive Director: Strategy, Health Inequalities
and Integration confirmed that while digital access would be expanded, face-to-
face and outreach services would remain.

The committee revisited the ongoing closure of MIUs at Leominster and Ross.
Members questioned how new hubs could be developed when services had not
been restored. The Chief Executive acknowledged the strength of feeling locally,
but explained that staffing shortages, particularly of emergency nurse
practitioners, made it difficult to reopen smaller MIUs. It was emphasized that
new hubs should provide broader urgent primary care, including minor iliness,
which could be an improvement on previous MIU provision.

Questions were asked about accountability mechanisms. It was noted that

oversight and scrutiny arrangements for each local authority would continue,
though with a wider geography covered moving forward.

12



70.

71.

10. Members asked how GP practices would feature in the new arrangements. The
Chief Executive highlighted that Herefordshire’s GP performance is strong
nationally, and primary care networks (PCNs) would also help to form the
backbone of neighbourhood health.

11. The Director of Public Health stressed the opportunity to use data to target
interventions at high-risk populations, reducing repeat hospital admissions.

12. Concerns were raised about national proposals to abolish Healthwatch by 2027.
Members emphasised the importance of retaining independent patient voices
and agreed to monitor developments closely.

13. The Executive Director: Strategy, Health Inequalities and Integration noted the
Work Well programme. This was highlighted as an example of how the NHS,
working with local partners, is helping people with health conditions remain in or
return to employment. It was added that the scheme, currently delivered by
Taurus Healthcare with three Work and Health Coaches, has supported
individuals with health conditions, with referrals available from GPs and through
self-referral. Members suggested stronger promotion via parish councils and Talk
Community hubs to improve awareness in rural areas.

ADULT SOCIAL CARE DEMAND FOR SERVICES TASK AND FINISH GROUP
The committee considered draft terms of reference for a task and finish group to
examine rising demand for adult social care. The Scrutiny Statutory Officer presented
the item.

The principal points of the discussion are summarised below:

1. Demand pressures continue to rise due to demographic change and increasing
complexity of need.

2. The group would comprise up to seven councillors (non-Cabinet) and report back
with findings and recommendations.

3. It was noted that a request would be sent out to all members of the council to join
the group.

Resolved
That:

a) The committee agree to form atask and finish group according to the terms
of reference attached as Appendix 1.

UPDATE ON RECOMMENDATIONS MADE BY THE HEALTH, CARE AND
WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The Statutory Scrutiny Officer presented the update on recommendations made by the
Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee.

The principal points of the subsequent discussion are summarised below:

1. Some items had been completed and could be closed.

13



2. The committee discussed the ongoing issue of minor injury units, which had been
raised in previous recommendations, and agreed to continue monitoring
developments.

Resolved

That the committee:

a) Notes the responses to recommendations that have been made by this
committee; and

b) Decides any further course of action on any topic for which it has received
responses to its recommendations.

72. WORK PROGRAMME 2025/26

The Statutory Scrutiny Officer presented the draft work programme for the Health, Care
and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2025/26.

Resolved

That:

a) The committee agree the draft work programme for Health, Care and Wellbeing
Scrutiny Committee contained in the work programme report attached as
appendix 1, which will be subject to monthly review, as the basis of their primary

focus for the remainder of the municipal year.

b) The committee note the forward plan attached as appendix 2 and identify any
opportunities for collaboration or alignment of work.

73. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING

The date of the next meeting is Monday 27 October 2025, 2.00 pm.

The meeting ended at 4.01 pm Chairperson

14



OFFICIAL
AGENDA ITEM 7

& Herefordshire
O Council

Title of report: Wye Valley Trust Winter
Plan 2025/26

Meeting: Health, Care, and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Meeting date: Monday 27 October 2025

Report by: Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Classification
Open

Decision type
This is not an executive decision

Wards affected
(All Wards);

Purpose

This report and its appendices provide information to support the Health, Care, and Wellbeing Scrutiny
Committee’s scrutiny of Wye Valley Trust’'s Winter Plan 2025/26.

Recommendation(s)
That:

a) The committee prepares any guestions and determines any other actions or
recommendations it may seek to make.

Alternative options

1. As this report is for information only, it presents no alternative options. The Health, Care, and
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee has agreed to assist (as per their Terms of Reference) with
considering Wye Valley Trust’'s Winter Plan 2025/26.

Key considerations

2. The Health, Care, and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee has a remit to scrutinise the Wye Valley
Trust’s Winter Plan in relation to how the Trust and system partners will prepare for and
manage increased seasonal pressures across urgent and emergency care, primary care, and

Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Henry Merricks-Murgatroyd, Tel: 01432 260239, email: Henry.Merricks-Murgatroyd@herefordshire.gov.ukl

15



OFFICIAL

community services. The plan focuses on ensuring patient flow, safeguarding hospital capacity,
reducing ambulance handover delays, and supporting timely discharge through integrated
health and social care pathways. It also incorporates learning from previous winters, aligns with
national NHS England guidance, and sets out measures for workforce resilience, infection
prevention, and maintaining quality of care during periods of high demand.

3. The members of the Health, Care, and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee agreed that this item be
brought to the committee on 27 October 2025 to consider this topic. Attached as Appendix 1 to
this report are slides that detail the trust’s winter plan for the period 2025-26.

Community impact

4. As this report is for information only, it contains no assessment of community impact. However,
any recommendation made by the committee, if agreed by Cabinet or a portfolio holder, may
have an impact on the Wye Valley Trust’s Winter Plan 2025/26. In this case, Cabinet or a
portfolio holder will have to consider these potential impacts when deciding whether to accept
the recommendation.

Environmental Impact

5. This report contains no direct environmental impacts. However, any recommendations made
by the committee, if agreed by the appropriate decision-making body, may have direct impacts.
Reports arising from or supporting this work will outline their potential environmental impact.

Equality duty

6. In producing this report, officers have been mindful of their duties under the Equality Act 2010
and Disability Discrimination Act 1995. The report and appendices are written in plain English
and laid out clearly to maximise readability.

7. Although the reports themselves only provide information, they may result in recommendations
to Cabinet or a portfolio holder for action. In agreeing those recommendations, Cabinet or the
portfolio holder will need to consider the impact of those recommendations on the council’s
equalities’ duties.

Resource implications

8. As this report provides information only, it has no resource implications. However, any
recommendation made by the committee, if agreed by Cabinet or a portfolio holder, may create
a resource implication. In this case, Cabinet or a portfolio holder will have to consider that
resource implication when deciding whether to accept the recommendation.

Risk management

9. As this report is for information only, it contains no risk assessment. However, any
recommendation made by the committee, if agreed by Cabinet or a portfolio holder, may create

16



OFFICIAL

a resource implication. In this case, Cabinet or a portfolio holder will have to consider that
resource implication when deciding whether to accept the recommendation.

Consultees

10. No consultations were carried out in the process of producing this report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Wye Valley Trust Winter Plan 2025/26 slides
Appendix 2 — Herefordshire and Worcestershire Integrated Care System 2025-26 Winter Plan

Background papers
None identified.

Report reviewers used for appraising this report:

Governance Danial Webb Date 17/10/2025

Finance Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.
Legal Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.
Communications Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.
Equality Duty Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.
Procurement Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.
Risk Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.
Approved by Click or tap here to enter text. Date Click or tap to enter a date.

17







s

OOO Compassion ® Accountability ® Respect  Excellence W

WVT Winter Plan
2025/26




0¢

NHS England Expectations

Expectations of Boards and ICBs
Clear articulation in four key areas during Board-level review and approval:

1.

Learning from 2024/25 - What are the lessons learnt from last winter that will make a tangible difference
this year

Mitigating Wider System Change - Maintaining standards and manage risk across UEC and elective care
pathways

Leadership Capacity — Appointing a Designated Winter Director Each ICB and provider organisation
must have a named Winter Director at Director level.

Assurance on Delivery Impact - Board assurance that plans are sufficient to mitigate the anticipated
impacts of increased winter pressure, including surge and super-surge scenarios



ICS 2025/26 Priorities

T¢

Delivery of 30-Minutes Category 2 Mean Performance

Delivery of 45-Minutes Maximum Ambulance Offload

Delivery of 78% Emergency Access Standard Performance (EAS) by March
2026

Improve the numbers of children see within 4 hours of arrival at the emergency
department

Reduce the percentage of patients waiting 12 hour’s or over for admission or
discharge to under 10%

Reduce the numbers of patients waiting 24 hours or over for a mental health
admission

Reduce discharge delays / Returning to discharge to assess

Eradication of Corridor Care



Winter 25 — 78% EAS Plan

B85.0%
80.0% o =" 0.6% -0.1% b
— o —
75.0% —
70.0% 1.3%
oo 0% °== =]
—
=]

65.0%

Q0%

SSO0%

S0.0%

March 2026 Projectionio UEC Capital Bid - Plans for Incresse safling to Work to inprove £0 SDEC O - ing at . Criteriato  PON adm s ion awsdance 111 Sverts to CRH UCRStep up VW Projection March 2026
I\) schemes Super SDEC =1 £ LU GP OOM service remowve all mappropriste performance: kocal target  the front doors: roll out Ad it i EO gainshare agreement
N (iste & twilight SpDr shift) and ryax B4% orgoing  NHSE acuity msessment
use OfSDEC scijtionsto  daily intermal validation  tool, incr eate streaming
increase admssiam to specialties
Forecast 2025/26 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nowv Dec Jan Feb Mar Total
Predicted Attendances [main A&E) 6.113 6.295 6.382 6.473 6.378 6.393 B6.767 6.485 6.675 6.134 6.071 6.863 77.041
Predicted Breaches based on current average daily 3.084 2915 2.760 2.666 2635 2.430 2,666 2.520 2.790 2635 2,352 2.803 32.316
Total Attendances - All Types 7.241 7.355 7.693 7.809 7.644 7.661 8.11 7.770 7.998 7.346 7.268 8.224 92.120
Average Number of Attendances per day [main AZRE) 204 203 213 203 206 213 218 216 215 198 217 221 21n
Total Footfall reduction (1] L1} o o 170 215 220 225 230 235 235 235 1765
Breach reduction o o o 165 340 409 464 430 506 580 651 1043 4647
Revised Attendances 7241 7355 7693 7809 7474 7446 7891 7545 7768 7im 7033 7989 90355
Revised Breaches 3084 2915 2760 2501 2295 2081 2202 2030 2284 2055 1701 1760 27669
Revised Perfo a : 60.4>< 64.12< 68.02< 69.3< 72.1< 73.12< 70.62< 7112 75.82< 78.0%<
Quarterly Performance () | il | co7: EEEEEEEEE <o IR 7o I s> S
Performance gain ] 0.0> 0.022 0.02< i 2122 3.8 4.622 5.0% | 5.5% 5.52¢ 7.022 8.27C 12122 4.5
Planning Submission 202526| | 68.32¢ | 68,622 | 69.6% | 69.9% 70.6% | 71.8%

| 71.0% | 71.9% | 70.2% | 71.9% | 75.7%  78.0% |




€e

Winter 25 — Ambulance Handover Plan

01:30:00

01:15:00

01:00:00

00:45:00

00:30:00

00:15:00

3

Avg Handover Times Per Week (25/26)

S5 7 = 11 13

24/25 Actual Handover

15 17 19

24/25 Actual

Handover

v

21 23 25

Avg Actual Handover

Avg
Forecasted
Handover

27 29 31 33 35 37 39 41

Avg Forecasted Handover

06/07/2025 00:35:32 00:36:00
03/08/2025 00:38:00 00:28:00
07/09/2025 00:38:59 00:18:40
05/10/2025 00:38:59 00:17:00
02/11/2025 00:59:04 00:25:00
07/12/2025 00:59:24 00:27:40
04/01/2026  01:02:26 00:30:40
01/02/2026  01:02:26 00:25:20
01/03/2026  00:43:30 00:25:40
05/04/2026  00:51:55 00:19:20

Comments

UEC capital works commence

UEC capital works complete

N—

43 45 47 49 51

— — = = Target



OOO Compassion ® Accountability ® Respect  Excellence

ve

Wye Valley
NHS Trust

WVT Plans




G¢

Areas of Focus 2025/26

The Valuing Patients Time 2025/25 plan has been designed by both clinical and operational leads, cross
referenced to the UEC GIRFT checklist, aligned to the 2025/26 UEC planning submission and the ICS
Sustainable Future Programme around Frailty (including EoL management). The programme focus areas
include:

« Maximise Neighbourhood Health (as part of the successful national bid to be part of the first cohort of the
national rollout)

« Ensure ED decongested

* Reduce non admitted breaches

+ SDECs - increase capacity and improve flow

» Improve inpatients flow (Internal Professional Standards (IPS) & SAFER Care Bundle)

» Ensure partners progress discharge pathway delays with set targets for provider discharge delays

Primary care admission avoidance

WVT Tier 1 reporting for UEC for Q3 and Q4 24/25
The NHS national Emergency Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) support will be provided across areas
of focus.



Introduction and Context

» Review of 2024/25 data completed.

» Debrief in May 2025 as part of Valuing Patients Time Workshops
* Increased ED attendances — including

* Increased Length of Stay for Admitted and Non-admitted
* Increased Ambulance handovers over 60mins
* Increased number of patients waiting >12hrs in ED
* Increased Emergency Admissions
* Reduced reliance on escalation beds
» Boarding beds remain high across 24/35
> » Valuing Patients Time workshops carried out in May, June and September, October with 22 “Learn
or Launch” schemes beginning 16t June 2025 and 21 planned for 13" October

Year to date — The Tests of Change have been designed to improve:

* 4-hour EAS and 12hr Time in department in department performance
« ED congestion

* high use of TES
» delayed discharges 1-3



Care Closer to Home

@te Floor

Herefordshire / WVT UEC Scheme 25/26
(Area | KeyAction/Objectve | KPlmpact

111 ED dispositions to Community Integrated Care Hub [SPoA]
Increase Call before Convey

Neighbourhood Health programme (National Submission success)
Implementation of 6 core components

Frailty PCN Community MDT for 65+yrs —aim to reduce 5 NEL admissions per day

Increase Virtual Ward Step up / down bed occupancy [Frailty / Primary Care lead]

Discharge follow up to prevent readmission

Community Catheter pathway

Establish ‘ care home forum ‘ to produce suite of actions focussed on reducing care home attendance to the Emergency Departments
Roll out of Digital ReSPECT

Nurse Navigation 12/7 — embed / educate / develop — internal and external pathway including increase streaming to Primary Care OOH

24/7 Pitstop Presence ensured there is a senior decision maker allocated to Pitstop all hours of the day

Reviewing our Same Day Emergency Care capacity and criteria. Increase internal utilization of our SDECs and how we increasing capacity for external referrals from
Primary Care, 111 and Urgent Community Response teams. Review current pathways and FUP activity
UEC capital bid: Medical SDEC optimisation plans to increase capacity [Surgical / Frailty / Gynae

Criteria to Admit: 4 question tool implemented in ED
Radiology pathways review to improve CT & diagnostics reporting KPIs.

ED shift patterns re-aligned according to demand: increased end of week and weekend Spdr cover —in line with medical and nurse business cases to uplift staffing —
additional Senior Decision making / support ahead of Winter 25

Benchmarking review / Internal Audits; Engage with colleagues in Foundation Group and regular “missed opportunities” audits for Call before Convey/ SDEC /
Navigation

Review of Internal Professional Standards / Working Better Together ED and Specialities — based on GIRFT Clinical Operational Standards

Implementation of NED / Exec led ED Safety Champion scheme

ED attendances
ED attendances / Increase use of UCR

ED attendances / NEL Admissions

ED attendances / NEL Admissions
NEL Admissions / LOS

NEL Admissions / ED attendances
ED attendances

ED attendances

ED attendances

ED attendances / 4hr EAS / Ambulance Handover

4hr EAS / Ambulance Handover

4hr EAS / ED attendances / NEL admissions

4hr EAS / NEL admissions
4hr EAS
4hr EAS

4hr EAS / Ambulance Handover / NEL admissions / ED
attendances

4hr EAS / Ambulance Handover

Quality focused on Ward to Board escalations / assurance



Inpatient Wards

N
(o}

Clinical Support
Services

Discharge / D2A

Herefordshire / WVT UEC Scheme 25/26

Key Action/Objective

Optimising Patient Flow through Acute and Community integrated Trust wide electronic bed management process

AMU — Re-Set — Criteria to Admit / Focus on 2-4day LOS / Consultant of the week trial

Internal Professional Standards [IPS] — Working Better Together — Acute and Community

Simplify and consolidate electronic discharge processes in relation to our Internal Professional Standards

September VPT workshops to collectively refresh and co-design with wider clinical and operational teams / ECIST support
Power Bl Dashboard monitoring in place

Introduction of an Acute Surgical Unit - Reduction in wait times for admission and earlier commencement of treatment / Capital bid to expand elective
recovery areas to support ASU / Surgical SDEC capacity

Critical Care Revised standard operating procedure for the transfer of wardable patients to wards / Develop a proposal for ITU to accommodate outreach
patients to provide additional surge and super-surge capacity

Enhanced weekly Discharge reviews on target wards with Integrated Discharge Team and ACS [Herefordshire and Powys]

Review escalation policy and use of escalation beds to include TES

Improvement to Inpatient TTO turnaround time within 2 hours / Ensure ward based pharmacy service as first point of contact for discharges to aid
patient flow

POCT for Respiratory Virus testing to achieve rapid diagnosis and aid early patient placement and appropriate treatment

Community Diagnostic Treatment Centre - CDTC will provide the following additional imaging which will release on-site capacity to increase access to
scan for ED/INP/SDEC to meet Diagnostic UEC KPIs

Review of Care Act Assessment process to prevent D2A overstays to create flow in D2a provide services

Increase Therapy support for D2A via BCF — Business Case

Review Provider of last result process / Housing related Discharge support

D2A Dashboard — management of daily / weekly capacity and overstays across providers

LOS / SAFER / CtR

LOS / CtR

LOS / SAFER / CtR

LOS / ED Congestion / Ambulance Handover

LOS

LOS / CtR

LOS / ED Congestion / Ambulance Handover

LOS / SAFER

LOS / ED Congestion / Ambulance Handover

LOS / NEL Admissions

LOS / CtR / Pathway 1-3 delays

LOS / CtR / Pathway 1-3 delays

LOS/ CtR / Pathway 1-3 delays

LOS/ CtR / Pathway 1-3 delays



Herefordshire / WVT UEC Scheme 25/26
Area | KeyAction/Objective

Increasing Risk Training and Culture:
Threshold * Develop cross-professional risk training (AHPs, doctors, nurses, social care). Multi-provider where possible
¢ Expand training on positive risk-taking, RESPECT, frailty sensitive approach and end-of-life communication.
* Population risk framing: Use the “Rule of Four” in education to show wider system impact; share patient stories in governance meetings; encourage clinicians to consider the “unseen patient.”

Clinical Practice:

¢ Promote “Why not home, why not today?” reviews across all sites

¢ Build cultures of support where juniors feel explicitly backed in discharge decisions

e Strengthen access to urgent advice for end-of-life care needs.

e Create supportive team cultures: Senior staff to model proportionate decision-making; use case-based reviews to normalise positive risk-taking.

* Daily senior review equivalents: Extend beyond medical teams; senior therapists/nurses to review caseloads daily and reprioritize

* Challenge defensive practice: Use governance meetings to explore where over-testing or prolonged stays increase risk

* Holistic conversations: Mandate structured end-of-life/frailty sensitive discussions; train juniors with senior supervision; allow time for conversations that prevent future admissions.

N General:
© * Implement/strengthen SPOA with senior clinical oversight

e Create supportive team cultures: Senior staff to model proportionate decision-making; use case-based reviews to normalise positive risk-taking

« Community alternatives: Promote confidence in UCR and care home pathways; share updated service directories; embed anticipatory prescribing.
ICS Wide Schemes Communications:

* Develop Winter Communication campaign with three key themes

» Staff Briefings — explaining the winter plan

¢ What our system looks like — guide for healthcare professional

* Conversations on End of Life (Patient Facing)

¢ Re Launch and Launch of Home for Lunch, your better home programs

Repeat Emergency Department Audits
* Focussing on walk in demand and appropriate use of pre-ED/ Pre Hospitals services for ambulances

Refresh Demand and Capacity models
Update demand / capacity scenarios for winter covering acute , community , pathways with latest information/intelligence.

ICS Wide Escalation

Review escalation processes and review to ensure more pro-active approach, with key focusses such as reducing occupancy / preventing escalation (OPEL 4
Establish robust processes for out of area escalations (service or patient).

Roll out SHREWD / SHREWD ACTION.



Valuing Patients Time — Herefordshire D2A

0€

D2A Board- monthly oversi ght Integrated Board with partners from system- monitor
commissioned D2A services and drive improvement

Disch arge del ays — d aily monitorin g Monitored daily for Herefordshire, Powys, Worcs, Shropshire
and others by IDT management team

Daily meeting with Hfdshire partners to review delays
Weekly silver call with Herefordshire and Powys to review
delays

Fast track/CHC delays escalation direct to ICB

Other counties- escalation via ICB if no plans

Discharge targets by pathway

-m-—-m-—“-z-m
305
] 47 49 50 54 53 30 30 314
[ po] 41 42 41 45 46 24 28 268
4 5 5 5 5 4 2 30
I ) 8
L r3] 0 8



Valuing Patients Time — Clinical Support

WVT Community Diagnostic Treatment Centre,

CDTC will provide the following additional imaging which will release on-site capacity to increase access to diagnostics for
ED/INP/SDEC Opened 29th September 2025

+338 +246 +187 +272 +246 +246 ED, SDEC and IP: Highest demand for MRI Head, Spines, MRCPs
MMPR (Prostate) +46 +40 +35 +42 +40 +40 Existing MMPR 12 pwk retained to support 48hr pathway
CT +1352 +1176 +1060 +1029 +979 +955 ED, SDEC and IP: Highest demand for CT Head, Thorax/Abdo/Pelvis, CTPA,

Cervical Spines.
CT3 to deliver CTCA at WVT (pts currently travelling to WHAT/UHB) *needs
BC to increase operating hours of CT3 to meet anticipated demand*

&\)TLHC +173 +173 +173 TLHC (low dose contrast CT) new pathway from Jan 26, all activity would be
delivered at the CDC, therefore no acute impact to from this new demand
uss +225 +196 +170 +202 +196 +196 ED and IP : Highest demand Abdo, Renal/Pelvis, Lower Limb Doppler
TVUS (PMB) +419 +364 +328 +380 +364 +364 Direct access to PMB pathway live from Acute Aug 25, the activity will be

moved to CDC

CDC slippage plan started delivering June 25, as a result:

*+ NOUS impact is mixed, with modest success in SDEC

»  Supporting a sustained increase in CT, helping with growing demand, ED and SDEC CT exams showing strong growth
+ Boosted MRI throughput, particularly where prior suppression existed with INP MRI showing the largest gain

4 new Consultant Radiologists have started in post, with induction in progress. This will help towards the capacity required to report these additional exams. TATs will
need to be closely monitored.



rem

OOO Compassion ® Accountability ® Respect  Excellence Wye Varey

Powys ASC & Health
Plans




Increased assessment capacity & domiciliary Powys
care

Increased Domiciliary Care Increased Assessment Capacity

Expansion of Hospital Team

Paying retainers To increase from September the Social Work capacity in Hospital Team by 5

Worcwithproviders o underston barrirs 0 pcking up packages el RIS Tl Cospa et 0 el el Rt i
areas and develop retainer framework to maintain workforce capacity and coverage where needed. Dedicated ward and MDT support including at Ready to
secure packages for discharge. Go Home Units.

(o
(V1]
-
(V1]
(VY]
(o 4
O
§
v
(- 4
(AN}
o)
=
(o]
(-4
b=
w
Q
S
w
& 5
a
e
S=
=
%
= =
(V)
<L
>
(-4
(L)

Enhanced brokerage capacity *  Reduction of those awaiting Social worker allocation

Review and refresh of dynamic purchasing system to improve response,
capacity and performance of contracted domiciliary care providers. All

terms and conditions reviewed. More detailed terms and conditions and
KPls. Increased control to leverage the market. *  Reduction in numbers awaiting assessment by social care.

*  Reduced number of days delayed

Trusted Assessment

Develop Trusted Assessor pathway with external providers. This will be
facilitated by a dedicated project officer in partnership with colleagues in PTHB.

Mel'qhodology successfully piloted in two residential care homes now ready for
scaling.




ve

Admission Avoidance Pathways

Virtual Ward

Fracture liaison

Frailty clinics

Step up
admissions

Primary Care MDT identification and active management of 0.5%
highest risk frailty population. Standardised reporting now
developed and contracted for, with further work ongoing to
establish consistent approach across Clusters. Includes care home
support and Treatment Escalation Plan development.

Newly developed function, Consultant led, with aim to support
improvement in bone health management

Consultant and GPsl clinics commenced to review patients with
complex multi-morbidity and chronic health conditions.

GP admission direct to PTHB community hospitals



G€

Same Day Urgent Pathways

Single Point of
Access (SPOA)

Community frailty
service

Falls response

MIU development

Community
Reablement

Community Nursing

Originally developed from the existing flow hub, a clinically resourced SPOA is under
development. Expectations are for soft launch in September, with all community urgent care
referrals for treatment, admission and community management being directed through this
service.

A mixed model across the Cluster footprints, these teams join up the responsive care needs for
frail patients in the community, drawing together the existing community teams to wrap
comprehensive community assessment and treatment planning around patients with
escalating needs.

An existing Tier 1 offer via St Johns Ambulance is being extended to include Tier 2 falls
assessment and response via existing community teams including reablement and Nursing.

Recognising the need to extend the capability & capacity of the existing services, a clinical lead
is in place to support continued skills and service development for the service.

Now formally separated from the community enablement offer, the team has been heavily
recruited to, with increased capacity across all clusters.

Now standardised across all Clusters, with a7 day 8-8 offer across all teams, the service has
increased capacity at weekends, is due to commence a pilot for a number of community
Matron roles and is to provide the refreshed offer around IVOPAT across Powys.



9¢

Discharge Pathways

RTGHU

Community Reablement

IVOPAT

Digiflo & Board Rounds

Trusted assessor - D2RA & BI

The Health Board have elected to retain these temporary changes, utilising the two
locations as areas to deliver care to patients stranded and awaiting transfer to onward care.
The units have been developed to optimise independence, reduce the risks for hospital
acquired functional decline and to maximise flow from acute hospitals.

In addition to the community functions referenced in the Same Day Urgent Pathways, the
Health Board have further developed the offer around step down care in Glan Irfon and
Cottage View, in order to maximise discharge flow.

Following temporary cessation of this function, a pathway is in development that is
supported by PTHB medicines management and microbiology, that will support the re-
commencement of this pathway. Expected to launch in September, the expectation will be
to retain secondary care prescribing, with delivery via the community Nursing teams of the
Health Board.

With a strengthened focus on community hospital inpatient flow, the adoption of the R2G
principles, Board rounds to be included in a newly refreshed GP SLA and a strengthened DLO
team, improved flow can be expected across the PTHB bed base.

Further developing the offer of our embedded Care Transfer Coordinators, the adoption of
Trusted Assessor processes across our teams has further increased the capacity and support
to our PCC colleagues.



Winter 25 — Workforce (planning & wellbeing)

* A modelled Workforce Plan for 2025/26 in place designed to ensure workforce resilience, flexibility, and wellbeing
throughout the winter period, in line with NHSE requirements. The plan is structured around key strategic themes

* Surge Planning scenarios with Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response [EPRR] support to key On Call and Operational roles
across the Trust

Executive Leadership

Health and Wellbeing

Vaccination Uptake

Flexible Working

Recruitment

@ Real-Time Workforce Intelligence

Staff Wellbeing and Vaccination; To support staff during the winter period, the Trust will launch a comprehensive Winter
Wellbeing Campaign, including:

Access to mental health support
Designated rest and recovery spaces
Provision of hot meals and hydration stations

Additionally, the Trust have plans in place to ensure high uptake of flu and COVID-19 vaccinations among staff to protect
both workforce and patients.



8¢

Winter 25 — Risks

On going use of Temporary Escalation Spaces (TES) to maintain flow and reduce ED congestion
Impact of Acute Floor estates work to deliver increase SDEC / Ambulatory capacity — planned work
Oct 25 to Feb 26
Maintaining high levels of Elective activity / Ring fenced Elective capacity
Powys:

« UEC admissions avoidance schemes not mirroring English pathways e.g. Same Day

Emergency Care

* No D2Ain place leading to increase Pw 1-3 delays
Competing priorities over winter period — Elective Vs Non-elective — delivering financial plan whilst
ensuring patient safety
Successful implementation of transformation schemes



Thank You
Questions?







ire and
Worcestershire

Herefordsh

)
=
=

055
i34
£
SCm
£

i & )
=
TR-E
L @® <
L]




Herefordshire & Worcestershire ICS
The ICS provides health and care services to over 806,000 residents in Herefordshire and
Worcestershire and 40,000 people from Wales.

Signatories to Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICB winter plan 2025/26

Approved by Wye Valley NHS Trust
Stephen Coliman
Acting Chief Executive

Approved by Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
Stephen Coliman
Acting Chief Executive

Approved by Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust
Ellen Rule

Chief Executive

Approved by Herefordshire and Worcestershire Integrated Care Board
Simon Trickett

Chief Executive

WINTER PLAN 2025/26

42



Contents

Guide to Acronyms used in this Document..............oiiiicciiiiiir s e 5
1. EXECULIVE SUMMAIY ... s 6
2. Review of WInter 2024/25 ............coo o iecciiiieirrrrsessss e r e e s s s s s e s e s s n s s s s s e e e e s nmassssnssnnnnns 8
Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICS Winter Plan 2025/26 ..............ccccceiiiniciiinnennnennnnnnnns 13
3. Maintaining health and managing demand...........cccciiiiiiiii 13
Vaccination Programime ........cooooi oo 13
N 5 Tt I OO P PP TP PPPPPPPPPPPPP 14
Primary Care (Including Urgent Dental Appointments) .........cccooeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeceee e, 16
Neighbourhood Health ..., 20
(07T 0010 0 18T 1182 d 0= 15 40T T3 VR 21
4. What Our System Looks Like - Winter 2025/26............ccccccceeeeiiiiiirirecencss s esesssmsssssssseeenns 22
ICS Urgent Care SIrategy ........ooooeiiiiiii i 22
LAt oT=S3 (=T = a1 = P URRPPPIRPRN 25
HEFEFOIASIIIE ...ttt e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 26
Frailty & End of Life — Managing the Clinical RiSK .............ccccoiiiiiiiiiii e, 27
ReSPECT (Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment)....................... 28
Children and YOUNG PEOPIE. .........uciiiiii et e e et a e 30
Mental Health SEIVICES ..........ueiiiiiiiiii e 31
R To o =1 = | = R 32
Patient TranSPOMt SEIVICE ... ..coi it e et e e e e e e e e ettt a e e e e e e e eeeenann s 33
5. Demand & Capacity Modelling.........cccceviiiiiiiiiiiiiisiiiirirsss s 35
Methodology for demand & capacity modelling for winter 2025/26 ..............coovvvivieiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeee 35
Worcestershire demand & capacity Modelling........... ... 35
Herefordshire demand & capacity modelling ............oooo i 37
6. Providers Headline Winter Initiatives............ccccciiiiiiiiiii, 39
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust (HWHCT): ..., 43
Wye Valley NHS TrUSE: (W T ) e 44
7. System FUNCLIONS.....ccooiiiiiiciicieiirsirrri i 47
System Co-0rdination CENIIE ........i i 47
Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) 2024-2026.................uuuuuuemiimimiimiiiiiiiiineinnnnnnnns 48
DiIr€CIOrY Of SEIVICES ...ttt e et e e e e e et e e e e e e e e aaans 52
SHREWD, SHREWD Action, SHREWD RepOrting...........cuueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiae e 52
Business continuity arrangemeEntS............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 54
8. Governance Arrangements for Winter 2025/26..............cccciiiiiiiiii 56
9. ICS COMMUNICAtIONS......cuiiiiiiiiiiisiir s s e e nnnn e e e e e nn s 57
10. ICS Monitoring, Evaluation and RiSKS ..........ccccociiiaaes 59
WINTER PLAN 2025/26 4

43



11.  Appendix 1 — Overview of ICS and Partner Profiles .........ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiicccccccnns 60

L0 YT T T o L 60
Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust..........oouiiiiiiiiiic e, 62
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust.........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiii . 63
WYE Valley NHS TrUST. ... 64
Worcestershire County COUNCIL ............ouuuiii i e e e e eeaees 65
Herefordshire County COUNCIl ...........ueeiiiiii e e 66

Guide to Acronyms used in this Document

Acronym Expanded Term

A&E Accident & Emergency (Emergency Department)
CDC Community Diagnostic Centre

CHC Continuing Healthcare

DMS Discharge Medicines Services

EAS Emergency Access Standard

ED Emergency Department (Accident & Emergency)
ESTC Emergency Surgical Triage Clinic

FAU Frailty Assessment Unit

GAU Gynaecology Assessment Unit

GIRFT Getting It Right First Time

GP General Practitioner

H&W Herefordshire and Worcestershire

HWHCT Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust
ICB Integrated Care Board

ICS Integrated Care System

KPI Key Performance Indicator

LoS Length of Stay

MAU Medical Assessment Unit

MDT Multidisciplinary Team

MGPA Modern General Practice Access

MiU Minor Injuries Unit

MSDEC Medical Same Day Emergency Care

NHS National Health Service

PAU Paediatric Assessment Unit

PCN Primary Care Network

R2G Red to Green

RSV Respiratory Syncytial Virus

SCDU Surgical Clinical Decisions Unit

SDEC Same Day Emergency Care

SPoA Single Point of Access

UCR Urgent Community Response

UEC Urgent and Emergency Care

WAHT Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
WMAS West Midlands Ambulance Service

WVT Wye Valley NHS Trust

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 5

44



1. Executive Summary

The Herefordshire and Worcestershire (H&W) Integrated Care System (ICS) winter plan has been in
development since May 2025 and has been influenced by national best practice, guidance issued
this year and learning from previous winters within our system.

Purpose:

e The winter plan will provide broad demand and capacity scenarios covering the period
October 2025 to March 2026, it will seek to provide assurance on the ability of the system to
achieve the key Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) by
March 2026.

o The winter plan will outline key areas of focus from the ongoing urgent care improvements
across Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICS which relate to planning for winter 2025/26.

e The ICS winter plan will provide overarching ICB level analysis, it is not intended to produce
or replicate individual providers operational plans for the period mentioned.

Looking ahead to Winter 2025, the ICS is in a strong position to meet the challenge of what is sure
to be another testing winter period.

As we look the further improve our patients experience across Winter, the core priorities of the ICB
and ICS are delivery of the following standards throughout winter:

e Delivery of 30-Minutes Category 2 Mean Performance

e Delivery of 45-Minutes Maximum Ambulance Offload aiming for 85% from
October

e Delivery of 78% Emergency Access Standard Performance (EAS) by March
2026

¢ Improve the numbers of children see within 4 hours of arrival at the
emergency department (confirming data position currently)

¢ Reduce the percentage of patients waiting 12 hour’s or over for admission or
discharge to under 10%

¢ Reduce the numbers of patients waiting 24 hours or over in ED for a mental
health admission (confirming data position currently)

¢ Reduce discharge delays / Returning to discharge to assess

e Eradication of Corridor Care

As a direct consequence of our collective efforts, we enter the winter period in a much stronger
footing. In relation to Urgent and Emergency Care, both Places have robust
improvement/sustainability plans, parts of which are already demonstrating their effectiveness,
through the ‘green shoots’ of improving performance we are starting to see. This can serve as a
catalyst to ensure all of our patients in receipt of care through winter have a positive experience as a
result.

Key Messages and Commitments:

o The delivery of the winter plan is overseen by place-based urgent care committees which
is overseen by our ICS UEC Board.

e The Winter Plan is under constant review and development and identifies the actions that
will enable delivery of core UEC indicators while maintaining patient safety and clinical

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 6

45



quality.

o All system partners recognise that the winter period will be challenging, balancing the need
to deliver key performance improvements whilst delivering financial savings through the UEC
Cost and Productivity Improvement Programme (CPIP). Acute capacity: Entering winter
2025/26 we will have less acute bed capacity than the previous winter. The system is
committed to working together to mitigate these challenges.

o The system commits to being driven by data intelligence. We will use our near real-time
information system (Shrewd) to anticipate and manage system pressures, and our work
across the ICS on developing a truly integrated UEC dashboard will enable us to better
understand the impact of our schemes on winter while informing us on alternative
approaches.

e The System Coordination Centre will work closely with all system partners aligned to its
roles and responsibilities, covering: Integrated Operational Pressures Escalation Levels
(OPEL) infrastructure, Flow, Escalation management as well as being the initial contact point
for regional colleagues.

o Demand management. we will build on demand management initiatives such as continued
commissioning of Same Day Urgent Access in primary care, and we will continue with
the expansion of Pharmacy First

o We will take the learning from the recent three ED audits and ensure the agreed actions are
delivered across all partners

e We will enhance the Single Point of Access (SPoA) in Herefordshire by implementing
NHS 111 to ED (SPoA first), we will continue to collaborate with West Midlands Ambulance
Service on Call before Convey and Pit Stop initiatives, we will ensure that place based
Urgent Community Response service delivery services in accordance with national
specifications including enhancing the ‘pull from ED model’, we will provide funding to
‘enhance our virtual hospital model’, where required.

o We will continue to drive reductions in care home activity presenting to our emergency
departments and lead significant work across the ICS to improve out responsiveness and
coordination of care for end-of-life patients.

o We will support work being undertaken at provider level to promote the transfer of care
into alternative settings, we will conduct further point prevalence analysis to support this
direct of travel and to influence the agenda.

o We will support acute providers in developing, refining and enhancing ‘front door
streaming models’ and ensure best practice use of Same Day Emergency Care Services.

o We will continue work with and support providers to reduce occupancy levels and
reductions to long length of stay; by returning to discharge to assess across the ICS and
promoting and embedding the home first agenda. Within Worcestershire Place we will
ensure successful delivery of the ‘System Wide Complex Discharge Transformation
Program’

o We will support the length of stay reduction programs within Wye Valley and
Worcestershire Acute Trust,

o We will support Wye Valley Trust in their valuing patients time program, and we will
provide bespoke support to Wye Valley Trust on reducing out of county discharge

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 7

46



delays.
e We will support the system as we continue to deliver the elective recovery program

e Proactive public communications: we will implement our Communications Plan which
includes a concerted system effort to promote alternatives to the Emergency Department
through targeted use of social media and other channels for specific population groups

e We will relaunch the “Home Before Lunch” and the “improving patient flow and
reducing deconditioning risk” campaign as part of winter preparations

o Festive weeks: we will produce detailed operational plans for the Christmas and New Year
period. This will include building up community capacity pre- Christmas to ease expected
pressures in late December / early January

e Vaccinations: Significant focus will be placed on ensuring improvements to public and staff
take up of the ‘COVID/Flu Jab Campaign’

The ICS has utilised the Urgent and Emergency Care Plan 2025/26 and Getting it Right First Time
(GIRFT) clinical operational standards — Emergency Care Pathways to aid its production of our
Winter Plan 2025/26.

2. Review of Winter 2024/25

Prelude to Winter

Ahead of the Winter Period, continued operational pressures in all Places dominated the pre-winter
preparation. Handover delays, lost paramedic hours and deteriorating EAS performance continued
to be the main focus for recovery, specifically within Worcestershire Place. Although similar
challenges have become more prevalent within Herefordshire place (albeit not as substantial at
Worcestershire Place).

Already in Tier 2 for UEC recovery, Worcestershire Place continued operational concerns
threatened the possibility that place would find themselves in Tier 1. This is driven by the continued
pressures and insignificant progress against many recovery plans.

Winter Plan Assurance Visit

The ICS hosted regional colleagues at Worcestershire Royal Hospital on 4" November 2024 as part
of the region’s winter plan assurance sessions. Following the visit, the following feedback was
received:

e Strong Clinical Leadership: The clear passion, vision and direction provided by
Worcestershire Acute’s clinical leadership team are commendable.

o Multidisciplinary Single Point of Access: The establishment of a multidisciplinary single point
of access is a significant achievement and is a great opportunity to maximise alternatives to
the Emergency Department.

e Various concerns were raised in relation to capacity and demand, handover delays, flow
within the emergency department, low Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) utilisation and
mental health delays.

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 8

47


https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Urgent-and-emergency-care-plan-2025-26.pdf

The assurance team concluded that the ICS Winter Plan, together with observations made during
the visit, were sufficient to manage winter dependent upon successful delivery of the winter plan
actions.

Activity

Aligned to the national position, in the first half of winter across our ICS, overall front door
Emergency Department demand was up 5.5%, which continued the late autumn trend. This was
evident in the substantial winter infections seen, which for flu itself was far in excess of the modelling
predictors. This pattern subsided towards the end of December, with the January position showing
demand had abated and was 6% below the demand experienced during the summer period.

Activity continued to be flat throughout February before returning to seasonal norms towards the
end of March.

Ambulance activity continued to be at historic lows, with walk in presentations increasing.

A&E Attendances (Type 1) WVT
TK
6K OO OO (@]
a2 ae o & Wa v/
5K ¢ .. .~. @
-------------- .----6.--—-------------------------------------------------
ax ef @
3K
@
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
A&E Attendances (Type 1) WAHT
14K
_________________________ Gl T s g g - ReR -
12K e ) W 4 OO _
%" ..s @
10K =-==-=-==-=-=-=- .———.————;—. ————————————————————————————————————————————————————
8K
(@)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Ambulance Total Handovers at WAHT
5.5K O
(@) (@]
50K ~" R fe"L----- @‘E:)QGO'CQ """"""""""""""""""""""""""
4 5K Ono O
O S @ [ ] ®
rox -o.. .......o... [ote]
. .. v e Y ¥4 ...
____________ .___-____-___-___-____-___-_____--_..____-_.--_._-___-____--
®
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
A
WINTER PLAN 2025/26 9

48



Ambulance Total Handovers at WVT

2.0K

1.8K

1.6K

1.4K

1.2K

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

.

Ahead of winter, both place-based systems produced detailed winter plans, aiming to mitigate the
demand and capacity challenges of winter using national best practice urgent care programmes to
improve the service provided to patients and aspiring to improve performance across several key
urgent and emergency care (UEC) indicators.

Primary Care Access

Recognising the impact of positive primary care access on the UEC system with the prevention of
unnecessary demand to emergency departments, the ICS has continued to further enhance the
access at key times of the day when attendances are highest. For last winter, this was in the form of
Same Day Urgent Care hubs.

For Worcestershire, service provision was via ten Hubs, all operational by December 2024. From
October to January, this offered 15,320 appointments (26% virtual, 74% Face to Face) with 84.2%
utilisation and 3.8% did not attend (DNAs). In Herefordshire, service provision is via one provider
and was operational from October 2024. From October to January, the population was offered 7,847
appointments (100% virtual) with 86.5% utilisation and 1.0% DNAs. The outcomes for GP
appointments benchmark well against other system within the region, as outlined in the graph
below:

Appointments Rate per 1000 population (current financial year)

NHS Black Country NHS Shropshire, Telford And NHS Birmingham And NHS Staff hire And NHS Coventry And
Integrated Care Board Wrekin Integrated Car Solihull Integrated Car Stoke-On-Trent Integrated  Warwickshire Integrated Cars
Board Board Care Board Board

Worcestershire-Specific Winter Schemes
Within Worcestershire, the following initiatives were the key elements of the Winter Plan:

o Improvements to operational oversight within the acute hospital and across the system — with
a particular focus on long overnight ambulance delays

o Delivery of transformation schemes aimed at improving ambulance handover, with robust
front door streaming. A “pit stop” was launched on the Worcestershire Royal Hospital site
for ambulances to access same day emergency care pathways, reducing the need to go to
the emergency departments first

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 10

49



o Consistent delivery of complex discharge pathway performance

o Arange of UEC efficiency programmes largely aimed at reducing length of stay, including
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) virtual wards

Herefordshire-Specific Winter Schemes

In Herefordshire, the same winter objectives applied, with the ambulance handover position more
stable, the specific winter focus at a place level included:

¢ Reductions to acute trust length of stay, maximizing use of the Better Care Fund
e Development of frailty virtual wards

Vaccinations — 2024/25 Outturn

Vaccination campaigns were a key part of the winter planning cycle, both for our population and our
workforce; the population campaign in Herefordshire and Worcestershire started delivery in October
2024. The end of season overview for vaccination rates is provided below:

Vaccination End of Season Overview

Local Regional | National . ) )
» Herefordshire and Worcestershire consistently had the

Covid Vacc— | 61.5% 49.4% 51.3% highest uptake in the midlands for COVID -19

All cohorts vaccinations

Covid Vacc — 81.3% 70% 72% » The system was 4" highest uptake in the country for
Care Homes COVID-19 vaccinations

Flu Vace — 61.10% 50.9% 501% + This is behind 3 other ICBs in the southwest region.

All Cohorts = Collaborative working across Community Pharmacy and

Primary Care which allowed for the efficient completion

co- . 39.27% 44.4% 43.5% of housebound vaccinations as well as an increase in
administered uptake
Flu & Covid :

- The RSV vaccination programme started on the 1 st
RSV CatchUp | 56.5% 52.2% 47.6% September. In the first month of delivery 1 in 3 women
RSV Pregnant | 47.4% 34.8% 37.5% who gave birth in September received the RSV vaccine
Women 31

Trimester

Flu vaccination percentages were higher than the regional average, but slightly lower for frontline
healthcare workers. Frontline social care workers nationally have a low uptake- under 30% nationally
and this is mirrored in our system. However, for Covid-19 vaccinations, local uptake levels have been
higher than both regional and national uptake, with social care worker vaccination uptake at 49.59%;
the highest percentage in the region.

Impact of the Winter Plan

The first half of winter, with its increased demand, multiple infection challenges and the early
implementation of some of these schemes saw compromised performance. However, the mid to end
part of winter (mid-January to early March) witnessed some key improvements across the ICS for
many UEC indicators. Examples of high-level improvements include:

o 55% reduction of paramedic lost hours

e 20% reduction in ambulance handover delays

¢ 14.3-minute improvement in mean response time to Category 2 ambulance calls, largely
driven by increase in ambulance capacity.

e EAS performance improved by 13% within Wye Valley NHS Trust compared to the same
period last year. EAS performance for Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust remained
static compared to the same period last year.

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 11

50



o The level of patients spending over 12 hours in the Emergency Department remained static
compared to the same period the previous year.

Learning from winter 24/25 has been captured and linked to operational planning, sustainability and
continued improvement actions. All acute trust sites maintained a very high bed occupancy and they
are taking additional actions at ward level to manage flow of patients from the emergency
departments. In addition to sustaining the improved ambulance handover position, the challenge
ahead is to reduce the bed occupancy and length of stay across ICS acute sites, with further
embedding enhancing and maturing of the UEC strategy and delivery plans.

WINTER PLAN 2025/26 12

51



Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICS Winter Plan 2025/26

Keeping our population healthy and demand management
3. Maintaining health and managing demand

Vaccination Programme

The annual flu vaccination programme can help reduce the morbidity and mortality from flu and
pressure on health and social care services in winter. This is especially important in 2025/26 due to
the risk of increasing respiratory ilinesses across the system for both vulnerable cohorts and the
frontline health and social care workforce.

Immunisation 2025/26 Plan

Commencement of covid — 19 and Flu Autumn program:

e Health Inequality outreach program

e Current ongoing procurement for two outreach providers across the system to deliver
outreach vaccinations to areas of low uptake and high deprivation, as well as to promote
Making Every Contact Count (MECC.)

¢ Community pharmacy pilot has launched to support the delivery of flu vaccinations to those
aged 2/3 years old. This is to supplement the general practice offering.

Core model of delivery through PCNs, practices and community pharmacies supported by
GP federations.

e 75+ delivery sites across the system
e Providing increased access and support throughout local communities
o Weekend super clinics planned

Immunisation outreach program

e Community venues and three outreach vehicles targeting vulnerable communities,
unregistered populations and those who struggle to access services.

e Utilising community venues and three outreach vehicles following a data driven plan
¢ Areas will include but not limited to Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) areas 1-4, rural &

farming communities, Gypsy, Roma and Irish Traveller (GRT) groups and migrant
communities

Frontline health and social care staff will be offered the seasonal flu vaccine with a 45%
uptake target

e Care home staff offered/ can access vaccination as part of the care home clinics provided by
practices.

13

52



o To support increased uptake within this group, both mobile (roving) services and fixed-site
clinics are going to be utilised.

¢ Have a stronger focus on the messaging as to the benefits of flu vaccinations and gain
empowerment from NHS clinical leaders within the system

e Through targeted communications, staff will be made aware of the benefits of the flu
vaccine, to not only themselves but their patients too.

C-19 target to vaccinate over 60% of our eligible populations

¢ Including over 82% of our care home, housebound and over 75 populations.

Monitoring uptake of Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Older Adult and Maternal
vaccinations. Increase Pertussis vaccination uptake

e Support practices with the roll out of the routine program and identify areas which need
support where necessary with alternative providers.

¢ Promote national messaging on the benefits of admission avoidance by receiving the
vaccine

o Make use of the call and recall initiatives to invite all eligible patient groups

Assurance, monitoring and review of the Delivery of the vaccination programme

e Via 1-1 provider delivery meetings in addition to operational oversight meetings and ICS
immunisation programme board/ICS UEC board

We await flu and Covid predictions to triangulate with plan.

NHS 111

Our NHS 111 provider is DHU Healthcare which is a CQC rated Outstanding large-scale contact
centre healthcare operation across the country.

The service operates from 4 locations. By the start of the winter pressures period, DHU 111 will
have over 800 seats across all sites, and this will provide significantly greater seating provision in
the event of contingency situations.

The service operates 24 hours a day, 365 days a year covered by a wide range of skillsets in the
clinical and non-clinical teams, including service advisors, health advisors, clinical practitioners,
pharmacists, mental health specialists, nurses, paramedics, paediatric clinicians, and dental nurses.

DHU Healthcare is an integral part of our UEC services ensuring that patients receive the best
possible care irrespective of the time of day.

DHU 111 has specific plans to manage this increased activity over the winter period, and although
the DHU111 Winter plan has not been received by HWICB in time for this report deadline, we
understand the following identify the key areas that the organisation incorporates as part of its
annual winter planning exercise. This is distributed into several key business areas:

Seasonal project planning Business Contingency Planning

Recruitment Motivational Event Planning

14

53



Forecasted Activity Communications Planning

Resource and Capacity Planning Estates Planning

Operational Planning Technical Infrastructure Planning

As part of the DHU workforce planning process, they have a Capacity Planning Team, who provide
analysis based on the forecast and resource plan, so that an assessment can be made in respect of
how many desks will be required at peak times, and what additional desks may be required from
peripheral sources, such as support function desks and training rooms. Full details will be provided
in the DHU Winter Plan due in September.

Whilst activity usually starts to increase from October onwards, the main peak of activity over the
winter period is centred on the Christmas and New Year bank holiday periods where call volumes
are anticipated to reach the most critical levels for the year. As part of the winter planning cycle,
DHU 111 reviews and analyses the winter period call activity from previous years and applies
statistical forecasting (linear regression) assumptions on potential increases to activity for the
forthcoming year.

Forecast - It is important to recognise that any forecast produced this far in advance of winter is
indicative. It does not account for significant variables such as potential industrial action, severe
weather, or the impact of seasonal illnesses.

Methodology - The following forecasts were developed as follows:

o Data Source: Historic regional call volume data was extracted from the DHU daily sitrep.

e Calculation: Each ICB's known percentage share of regional triaged activity was applied to
the historic data to extrapolate an ICB-level forecast.

e Growth Assumption: Although year-on-year call volumes are currently stable,

Herefordshire & Worcestershire ICB have added a 3% uplift to regional volumes to cover
any significant variables, as detailed above.

15

54



Herefordshire & Worcestershire Weekly & Daily Winter 111 Forecasts:

Hereford & Worcester Split of Midlands 111 Call
Volumes (3% uplift)

Call Forecast (+3% i Key Dates Christmas & New Year
29/09/2025 4208
06/10/2025 4480 Day Ofweek Call Forecast (+3%)
13/10/2025 4578 20/12/2025|5aturday 1,121
20/10/2025 4468 21/12/2025|5unday 5955
27/10/2025 4365 25/12/2025|Thursday 538
03/11/2025 4556 26/12/2025|Friday 550
10/11/2025 4687 27/12/2025|Saturday 1,161
17/11/2025 4752 28/12/2025|5unday 550
24/11/2025 5051 01/01/2026|Thursday 597
01/12/2025 0047
08/12/2025 5102
15/12/2025 5205
22/12/2025 5312
20/12/2025 4918
05/01/2026 4302
12/01/2026 4123
16/01/2026 4265
26/01/2026 4350
02/02/2026 4310
09/02/2026 4411
16/02/2026 4452
23/02/2026 4317
02/03/2026 4162
09/03/2026 4212
16/03/2026 4504
23/03/2026 3508
30/03/2026 434

And embedded further detail:

PDF PDF

DHU Winter Plan  NHS 111 Midlands
2025-2026 v3 DRAFTRegional Winter Call

Primary Care (Including Urgent Dental Appointments)

Primary Care plays a fundamental role in managing increasing demand for medical services, often
exacerbated over the winter period. In addition to the core in hours general practice services,
primary care capacity is extended during out of hours periods by two Nationally directed access
services, which aims to contribute towards minimising the impact on other parts of the healthcare
system.

16

55



Enhanced Access GP appointments

Modern General Practice / Capacity and Access
Improvement

Pharmacy First Scheme / GP Connect

Operational Pressures Escalation Framework
(OPEL)

Urgent Dental Appointments

Enhanced Access Appointments Over Winter

Primary Care Networks (PCNs) provide Enhanced Access (EA) appointments outside of
core GP surgery hours — that means that patients can attend surgery between the hours of
6.30 pm and 8 pm Mondays to Fridays and between 9 am and 5pm on Saturdays

At least 15 bases are running simultaneously during these hours across the 15 PCNs.

For Herefordshire and Worcestershire patients, over 3,000 hours of Enhanced Access
appointments are provided (in addition to appointments in core surgery hours) at various
bases each month.

A blend of appointments (F2F/virtual/online) mirroring the offer from Primary Care are
available from a variety of clinicians.

During Winter months (October-March), this will provide approximately. 100,000
appointments.

H&W appointment split approximately 26,000 Herefordshire and 81,000 Worcestershire
(based on 5 appointments per hour).

Availability of these appointments adds to the resilience of Primary Care and supports
patients in the management of their health and prevents unnecessary ED and hospital
attendances

Modern General Practice Supporting Winter (MGPA)

All 78 GP practices participated in Modern General Practice actions in the previous two
financial years increasing all forms of access, by types of appointment or with more
clinicians. This is continuing to embed and mature for the remainder of this year.

At all practices, the first point of contact is a care navigator who can book into appointment
slots, book into other provider services such as Enhanced Access, Pharmacy First, or
signpost to the most appropriate health professional e.g. a MSK practitioner, freeing up GP
appointments/time for the more complex patients.

Part of MGPA is to utilise technology to aid access to primary care for patients. This can
include:

17

56



o Offering online access via practice websites. All practices offer online consultations -
On average about 1,000 Online consultations/contacts are made per practice each
month. Patients can also access online booking and the NHS App via practices'
websites. All practices have webpages that are now compliant to NHS standards
offering easy, full access to a range of services. The NHS App, Accurx messaging, and
webpages also promote self-care and where appropriate self-referral, therefore freeing
up capacity within the system.

o The implementation of online consultation requirements will be supported and
monitored once the regulatory changes are made available.

o All H&W practices utilise Cloud Based telephony systems with full functionality which
improves access options for patients as full functionality is being used, e.g. callback
when lines are full

Capacity Access Improvement Plan (CAIP)
e All 15 PCNs are involved in delivery of the CAIP

e CAIP is a set of initiatives aimed at improving the overall patient experience of access by
implementing interventions that make transition between services easier and support
navigation within the healthcare system and continuity of care where appropriate

e As part of participation in our Primary Care Network (PCN) Directed Enhanced Service
(DES), PCNs are implementing the CAIP initiatives aimed at better understanding their
patient cohorts’ needs — they are working with their constituent practices to ‘stratify’ patients
to ensure that patients that would benefit from continuity of care are identified

o Practices are generally focusing on frailty measures as part of this process and identifying
patients that will be managed more effectively — implementation will be between October —
March. Patients will be ‘flagged’ on the practice system to ensure that continuity is
considered when determining the appropriate response to the patient’s query. This will
support effective management of frail patients in Primary Care

Same Day Urgent Access Hubs

Learning from winter 2024/25 when primary care was commissioned to implement same day urgent
access hubs to further absorb the urgent care requirements in primary care. The ICB has
commissioned this service for 2025/26 with 30,000 additional face to face appointments during the
2025/26 winter period.

Pharmacy First / GP Connect

The expansion of Pharmacy First will play a key role in supporting the NHS and local systems during
winter 2025/26 and beyond, when urgent care pressures typically spike. More funded consultations
means pharmacies can see and treat more patients for common minor illnesses without needing GP
or A&E input. By treating minor illnesses like sore throats, sinusitis, and UTls, Pharmacy First frees
up GP appointments and reduces inappropriate A&E visits.

There will be other expansions which will also help reduce the need for GP appointments such as:

e Expanding the New Medicines Service (NMS) from October 2025 to introduce depression
which will help relieve pressure on general practice by ensuring patients are followed up and
are taking their medication correctly.

¢ Expanding the Contraception service to include Emergency Contraception (EC) from
October 2025. Pharmacies already offer regular contraception advice and consultations for

18

57



H&W pharmacies have been increasing during 2024-25 averaging over 500 per month in the
last four months of the year.

¢ H&W pharmacies already deliver the blood pressure screening and monitoring service and
in the last four months of 2024-25 delivered an average of 2310 checks per month.

¢ All of these consultations support the system in managing patients appropriately and
relieving pressure on general practice and other parts of the system.

Urgent Dental Appointments
e As part of the Government’s commitment to deliver 700,000 additional urgent dental care
appointments annually during this Parliament, Herefordshire and Worcestershire have been
allocated 12,970 appointments for delivery between April 2025 and March 2026.

e 39 of our contractors (dental practices) are participating in this, and all 12,970 appointments
have been commissioned from 15t April 2025

o Contractors are required to reserve urgent care appointments proportionate to their financial
uplift — this will ensure consistent availability of appointments for patients with urgent dental
issues.

o Patients will be directed to providers via NHS 111 — this will support prompt utilisation of the
pathway.

Out of Hours Primary Care Services

There are two GP Out of hours contracts within the ICS at Place level. Herefordshire is provided by
Malling Health Ltd, with elements subcontracted to Taurus Healthcare Ltd. The Worcestershire
service is provided by Practice Plus Group (Urgent Care) Ltd. Current contracts end on 7" July
2026, and although we are currently out to tender for new contracts to commence on 8" July 2026,
we don’t anticipate any issues with continuity over the winter period, with the providers maintaining
an active role in UEC local delivery.

Both contracts are performing well across all key performance indicators. Herefordshire are
meeting all and Worcestershire have 2 areas of improvement. Remedial actions plans are in place,
with both now nearly achieving target (less than 5% improvement required).

Workforce recruitment is in a strong position across both counties, complaints and incidents are low
and patient satisfaction feedback rates at circa 90% for both services.

Business continuity plan outlined below

Hereford out of hours service business continuity plan

=

SWHC Business
Continuity Plan v1.4

GP Federation business continuity plan:

-

Taurus (Business
Continuity Plan).pdf

19

58



Neighbourhood Health

Starting in October 2025, enabled by a local Neighbourhood Delivery Framework contracting
mechanism with PCNs, the formation of multi-disciplinary teams as described in the 2025/26
Neighbourhood Health Guidelines will deliver proactive, personalised and preventative care for
those with severe frailty, patients in the last year of their life and those living in care homes. These
cohorts are driving admissions, ED attendances and re-admissions in our system as well as
impacting upon length of stay.

The model of care, systems and processes which will be applied consistently include detection of
those with unidentified frailty, risk stratification, care co-ordination, comprehensive geriatric
assessments, advance care planning and monthly multidisciplinary team (MDT) case reviews.
Emergency admissions in our priority neighbourhoods are also of concern and a focus throughout
this period. Commencing in October, MDTs will work with Voluntary, Community and Social
Enterprises (VCSE) and preventative services to improve outcomes and reduce attendances for
those with a non-medical need.

Throughout Winter 2025, in-line with Neighbourhood Health guidelines, local teams will focus on
ensuring proactive personalised and preventative care for people living with frailty and patients in

their last year of life, including those in care homes and people with unidentified frailty and unmet

needs with rising risk of acute deterioration.

All 6 core components of the guidelines have been allocated workstream leads.

Population Health Management

Modern General Practice

Standardising Community Health Services
Neighbourhood Multidisciplinary Teams (MDTs)
Integrated Intermediate Care with a ‘Home First’ approach
Urgent neighbourhood Services

To support delivery of these core components a range of training, support, workshops and initiatives
will be held/undertaken focussing on:

e System wide workshop planned for July for a range of system providers, including VCSE.
Focused on engaging all partners in developing a vision for Neighbourhood Health and
prioritising key deliverables for Winter and Spring.

e Increased coordinated management and timely holistic assessment and advance care
planning

e Training to be provided throughout autumn for West Midlands Ambulance Service (WMAS)
clinical staff and care home staff around the recognition and management of patients who
are approaching end of life, including adopting a frailty sensitive approach to avoid multiple
ED attendances and provide high quality care.

e Expected development of direct SDEC pathway from SPoA in Herefordshire to reduce ED
attendances

e Learning from neighbourhood health accelerator sites to be embedded across all sites
through winter

¢ Integrated MDT for each Neighbourhood which will meet monthly to discuss, review and
triage patients at highest risk of deterioration

20

59



e Governance restructure to support new Neighbourhood Health guidelines, decision making
and implementation at Place.

Community Pharmacy

Clinical Pathways: The NHS Pharmacy First Service enables community pharmacies to assess
and treat seven common conditions through defined clinical pathways, including the supply of
prescription only medicines where appropriate. Patients can access these services directly without a
referral. Where patients present at NHS111, UEC settings or General Practices for these conditions,
a referral should be sent to the community pharmacy.

The seven conditions include:

Acute otitis media (1 to 17 years)

Impetigo (1 year and over)

Infected insect bites (1 year and over)

Shingles (18 years and over)

Sinusitis (12 years and over)

Sore throat (5 years and over)

Uncomplicated urinary tract infections (Women 16-64 years)

In 2024-25, HWICB pharmacies undertook an average of 2338 clinical pathway consultations each
month. The ICB is working with GP practices, Minor Injuries Units (MIUs), community pharmacies
and patients to increase use of the pathways, ensuring patients are managed by the most
appropriate clinician.

Urgent Repeat Medicine Supply
Pharmacists can provide an emergency supply of a patient’s regular medication when they run out
and cannot access their GP in time.

NHS Referrals for Minor lliness

Patients with minor illnesses should be referred to community pharmacies by NHS 111, GP
practices and UEC settings to a pharmacy for advice and treatment. Referrals ensure continuity of
care and consultation outcomes are sent to the patient’'s GP practice.

Discharge Medicines Service (DMS)

DMS plays a key role in supporting the NHS during winter by reducing readmission rates and
supporting patients on discharge (Sabir et al, 2019). All patients with any medication change whilst
in hospital (starting, stopping or changing a dose) can benefit.

For every 10 DMS, 1 avoidable re-admission can be prevented with an associated cost saving of
£2251

DMS can also improve safety: https://www.hssib.org.uk/patient-safety-investigations/workforce-and-
patient-safety/fifth-investigation-report/

All pharmacies in H&W can provide DMS and the ICB is working with the trusts to optimise use of
DMS.

To initiate DMS, NHS Trusts electronically send a copy of the discharge summary to the patient’s
choice of community pharmacy. DMS includes medicines reconciliation, confirmation of the next
prescription and a patient consultation/medicines review using shared decision making to check the
patient’s understanding of their medicines’ regime.

This helps:

¢ Prevent medication errors

21

60


https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11096-019-00887-3
https://www.hssib.org.uk/patient-safety-investigations/workforce-and-patient-safety/fifth-investigation-report/
https://www.hssib.org.uk/patient-safety-investigations/workforce-and-patient-safety/fifth-investigation-report/

¢ Identify and resolve discrepancies
e Support adherence to new or changed prescriptions

This is especially important during winter when hospitals face high demand from respiratory
illnesses and seasonal conditions

Flu and COVID-19 Vaccinations

Many community pharmacies deliver the national flu and COVID-19 vaccination services. These
services are accessible and convenient for patients, helping to increase vaccination uptake and
reduce pressure on other healthcare providers during winter.

Public Health Campaigns
Community pharmacies have to participate in public health campaigns, two of which can be directed
by the ICB. For 2025/26, the local campaigns are:

e Know Your Numbers which will support the blood pressure screening service
¢ NHS App which will support patients ordering their medicines using technology, freeing up
valuable time in pharmacies and practices.

Healthcare professionals can check if a pharmacy provides a service by using Service Finder for
Healthcare Professionals - Service Finder
Public facing searches:

 Find a pharmacy that offers the contraceptive pill without a prescription - NHS
o Find a pharmacy that offers free blood pressure checks
o Find a pharmacy that offers free COVID-19 rapid lateral flow tests

4. What Our System Looks Like - Winter 2025/26

ICS Urgent Care Strategy

Over the last six months, UEC pressures have stabilised and have seen some improvement in the
length and frequency of ambulance handover delays. However, we continue to face substantial
challenges across our system within urgent and emergency care — delivery of constitutional
standards, particularly EAS performance and long waits in the emergency department remain a
cause for concern.

These challenges are compounded by ongoing demographic growth and predicted rising demand
for services, providing the imperative to our system to change the way in which we plan and deliver
health and care services. Preventing urgent health needs arising is key, with a focus on staying
healthy

Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICS has developed its short to medium-term intentions for urgent
and emergency care. With alignment to national priorities and addressing local population needs, the
strategy sets out the improvements expected for 2025-2028, with the red shaded boxes detailing the
performance improvement expectations through Winter 2025/26.

22

61


https://servicefinder.nhs.uk/login
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/pharmacies/find-a-pharmacy-offering-contraceptive-pill-without-prescription/
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/pharmacies/find-a-pharmacy-that-offers-free-blood-pressure-checks/
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/pharmacies/find-a-pharmacy-that-offers-free-covid-19-rapid-lateral-flow-tests/

Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy 2025-2028 ¢ L

and Worcestershire
Integrated Care System

Our vision for
local people A responsive and sustainable urgent and emergency care system that meets the needs of local people

!
Our migion is Working together to achieve the best patient outcomes & experience through high quality integrated urgent and emergency care
Population Health Management
QOur 6 strategic d To apply population health management approach
priorities fo identifying those most at risk
+ Implement data gathering on health inequalities + Consistently achieve under 30 minutes category two ambulance response times.
+ Undertake population health assessments * Achieve high performing Emergency Departments
+ Tailor approaches fo people most-at-risk of requiring urgent & emergency care + Implement ‘front door’ streaming to right care sefting
+ Recovery of elective care waiting times +  Maximise same day emergency care, including access to diagnostics 7-days
/\ .  Care at Home - Discharge and Recovery
To maximise the coordination of services tq proactively intervene L To have a z6ro delay’ approsch to discharge planning with
early and prevent the deterioration of frailly and ill-health coordinated support for peaple to optimise their recovery
o o «  Care at Home de[ivered by If\legratad Neighbourhood Teams + Commit to returning home sooner #Homeforlunch #longlengthofstay
o Dew.'elupmenl of virtual hospital model + Enhance Frailty Rehabiltation & Discharge pathways
+ Fraity competent workforce _ + Return to Discharge-to-Assess pathways across the system
+  Full coverage of falls response service + Promote Home First and community support for patients
Future model of urgent care “ Operational Resilience
To establish a model of integrated urgent care To demonstrate effective allocation of resources
that supports people to access advice and interventions to de-escalate or prevent pressure
» Improve same day urgent care pathways 24/7. +  Operate a fully compliant System Coordination Centre
« Delivery of a single point of access and enhance care navigation + Conduct annual winter and surge planning ; 7
+  Encourage people to use NHS111, mental health crisis support and HandiApp. + Run public awareness campaigns to suppart peaple fo use the right service
* Enhance community-based services for people who do not need hospital care. o [LEEL L ““"'T""g- ool pproeched Bdloc KICMEE ECDSE R IBlOTKTS
+  Operate 7-day working across urgent & emergency care
O——"0—0

Qur Aspiration .

T WA ot St

of strategic . Department DA R deliver integrated

ambitios attendances per 1,000 LIS lp? e urgent & emergency
population by 2028 population care

This strategy sits within a systemwide strategic framework and specifically addresses the priorities
and population needs for the specific area of focus, as set out in the H&W Integrated Care Strategy
2023-2033 and the UEC Plan 2025, with these plans focusing on issues relating to self-care and
independence, health behaviours, personalised care, population health management and
sustainability to deliver tangible improvements to health inequalities, delays to care, reducing waste
and improving efficiencies.

Within Urgent and Emergency Care, the ICS strategy incorporates many of the prerequisites detailed
within the UEC plan 2025/26, recognising that our starting point is a recently stable UEC position,
high demand across primary care and the ED front door, excessive occupancy levels and
performance within the key UEC indicators, while improving, still being behind trajectories.

Through the ICS Urgent and Emergency Care Board through to place based committees, the ICSs
future view for UEC is shown below.

23

62


https://www.hwics.org.uk/application/files/7516/8303/1109/HW_Integrated_Care_Strategy_02.05.2023.pdf
https://www.hwics.org.uk/application/files/7516/8303/1109/HW_Integrated_Care_Strategy_02.05.2023.pdf
https://www.hwics.org.uk/priorities/nhs-joint-forward-plan

Triage, Assess & Treat Discharge to Assess

Single

Discharge

Care
Coordination
Hub (3)

Ongoing Needs

assessment/
of angaing

needs

DDischarge

Ongoing
Care

1) Function to filter 1 cormect Senae

2} Al community dispositions — MIU, falls response, emergency duty team, community health services, mental health crisis ling, OOH/ extended access in primary care, pharmacy, dental access, Urgent
COMMUNITY response

3) gement of ¥, integ Bcross health & social care, acute & community.

We recognise the importance of all local health and care providers and commissioners working
together to deliver the strategy and to provide the best services we can to the patients we serve.
With our mature relationships, we are developing even closer ways of working at a system level
(ICS) to ensure patients get the safest, most effective and efficient services when they are needed.

As an ICS we now largely have all the best practice elements of an effective UEC system from a
service perspective. The focus for this winter and beyond is to mature and ensure best practice

standards are embedded across the entire system and organisations.

Within Worcestershire Place, now a Tier 1 system, we welcome the support and focus the agreed

concordat brings to continue the improvement journey.

63

24



Worcestershire

What Our System Looks Like:

Patient

l |
Neighbourhood Teams MIUs ] NHS 111
focusing on admission i .

avoidance (Regional Pathway)
If patient requires acute
care

| | l

Via GP NHS 111 WMAS CBC I Walk-ins I WMAS

Suspected Stroke

. |
. . A&E triage at front door/
Single Point Of Access S%eaming Scanner (Stroke
Pathway)
| | | | | |
2=zl
slloll% >zl
TlsHHMHZSHCS S
2 ]
@ O
| | | | | | |
Minors || GAU* || ED/Resus || MSDEC || sDEC || Heart Centre || GP Streaming*
Waiting Home Inpatient | | Mental Health
room (pr f’;mfg’d; Rehab (CAS Suite)* MAU SCDU
[ |

1 |

If admitted from
assessment areas to
general ward

Discharge plan
constructed within 24 hours/
EDD agreed

]

b

Daily R2G ward rounds Secondary
oard’ rounds (Supported by: Strand-
ed Patient Review)

Focus on simple discharge

Palliative Care beds CHC
Fast Track

*Can be streamed from Front
Door with EAS standard
record at Front Door

PW1

If Pathway Required to support discharge
than referral to care Transfer Hub
(subject to change 2025)

PW2

64

PW3

25



Herefordshire

What Our System Looks Like:

Patient
| ]
Neighbourhood Teams MIUs -
focusing on admission I NHS 111
avoidance (Via community (Regional Pathway)
referral hub) ) .
If patient requires acute
care
| |
Via GP Walk-ins WMAS
FAU
Clinical triage A&E triage at front door/ | _|
telephone Steaming Suspected Stroke
| S S T A .
[ Scanner (Stroke
Pathway)

d0N
solulD 10H
= kv
Q3av/INYIN
nv4
nvo
o154

| | | | ] | |
Minors || ESTC* GAU* || ED/Resus FAU* PAU GP Streaming*®

Waiting Home || Inpatient || Mental Health
AEC . MAU SCDU
Room iy || Rehab (CAS Suite)*
[ | [ | | [ |
| | I |
If admitted from ¢ Dif?ar.?ﬁ. plzaé?h y Daily R2G ward rounds Secondary
assessment areas to ] constructed within 22 hours/ ™1 sh5ard’ rounds (Supported by: Strand-
general ward EDD agreed ed Patient Review)
1

Focus on (pathway zero) I If determined to require health and social PWA1
care on discharge refer to Care Transfer
Hub
Palliative Care beds CHC | T
Fast Track PW2
Referral to determine if Pathway 1, 2 (incl. /

Stroke), 3 or 4 is Pathway decision form

*Can be streamed from Front T

Door with EAS standard rec- -
ord at Front Door Care transferred as soon as capacity
available PW3

65



Frailty & End of Life — Managing the Clinical Risk

The ICS Neighbourhood health focus is on those living with severe frailty and those likely to be in
their last year of life. This is as a result of data intelligence and the spring/summer in-depth ED
audits across our three ED departments that provided evidence and case studies that care of frail
elderly and end of life (EOL) patients in not in line with UEC strategy planning.

Ahead of/during/following winter a significant program of work will be undertaken which will
emphasise our commitment on improving the frailty offer across the system, these programs of work
include:

e Improved access to senior clinical decision makers to support frailty sensitive and home first
approach to management

o Frailty GPs co-located in SPoA Currently embedded in Herefordshire, commencing
October 2025 Worcestershire

o Launch SDEC pathway from SPoA in Herefordshire, in place for Worcestershire

o Increased use of advice and guidance for geriatric medicine and addition of Acute Medicine
advice and guidance pathway

o Pathway for care home staff to get advice and support from senior SPoA clinicians being
developed, October 2025

o Improve links with neighbourhood Frailty Teams and acute Clinicians/Geriatricians to
facilitate frailty sensitive approach and timely discharge from acute and community hospitals.
This will reduce length of stay including utilisation of hospital at home in-reach to identify
suitable patients for early discharge, commencing October 2025

o Development of agreed system escalation pathway for patients living in care homes
(including increased utilisation of direct access to SPoA for advice), during October 2025

o Development of a clinical decision support tool for care homes to support management of
the deteriorating patient, November 2025

e For when conveyance to an acute trust is necessary, to increase numbers of patients seen
by and streamed directly to frailty SDEC/Geriatric Evaluation Management Strategy (GEMs)
services, commencing October 2025

o Optimisation of out of hospital pathway use when patients deteriorate which supports a
home-first approach when appropriate, including work with WMAS to increase use of call
before convey and expansion of Worcestershire hospital at home service, and review of
Herefordshire model, commencing November 2025

o Development of agreed system out of hospital long lie pathway, during November 2025

e Promoting timely discharge from acute to community by increasing awareness of community
pathways to manage complex patients and ensure these are routinely considered during
board rounds, October 2025

e Review of community hospitals within Worcestershire, including the Intensive Assessment
and Rehabilitation Pathway to reduce length of stay and the likelihood of deconditioning and
need for long term care placements, November 2025

o Focus on proactive care for patients living with severe frailty in primary care neighbourhood

health contract, offering timely advance care planning discussions and identify those patients
who are most of risk of sudden acute deterioration for proactive care planning, commencing

27

66



October 2025

e Optimisation of SPoA pathways to support a home first approach, review benefits realisation
for Worcestershire followed by Herefordshire, November 2025

o Implementation of learning from a deep dive into patients in the last 90 days with 3 or more
ED attendances to include actions around coordination of care, quality of ReSPECT
(Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment) documentation and
timely recognition of patients approaching the last year of life November 2025

In addition to the above, the ICB has prioritised improving our systems responsiveness to identifying
those patients likely to be in their last year of life and coordinating their management to reduce
unnecessary admissions in the last 90 days of life.

During September, a system ‘managing risk’ meeting was held with wide ranging clinical
representation across the ICS. The meeting proved extremely beneficial and the outputs included
specific actions, enablers and solutions which will be implemented at pace ahead of winter.

A key element of this discussion focussed on more appropriate balancing of risk throughout the
system and moving away from the ‘status quo’ of the acute trust or emergency departments acting
as the ‘catch all’ place of safety.

The system also conducted local and regional stress test exercises aimed at testing the resilience of
the winter plan. Outputs/Actions from these exercises will be progressed by Chief Operating Officers
across the ICS.

ReSPECT (Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment)

ReSPECT is currently being embedded across Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health economy.
It is a process for collating personalised recommendations for a person’s clinical care in a future
emergency in which they are unable to make or express choices and is part of a wider process of
Advance Care Planning (ACP) or anticipatory care planning.

ReSPECT provides health and care professionals responding to an emergency with a summary of
the patient’s wishes, with the aim of supporting immediate decisions about that person’s care and
treatment. People with a ReSPECT plan in place are more likely to avoid unwanted and
unnecessary interventions, including hospital admissions which allows people to be cared for and
die in the place of their choosing.

Digital ReSPECT is being piloted (via the Shared Care Record) in the summer and aiming to launch
Autumn 2025 across the system. This will enable partners; including WMAS, SPoA, secondary
care and primary care providers, to advocate for patients wishes and support robust clinical decision
making.

Documentation will be a co-production with WMAS for suggested wording to ensure clear
interpretation of ReSPECT documentation. The local work will support national ReSPECT
elLearning expected during the Autumn.

In addition, it allows partners to update contemporaneously and not be reliant on paper forms being
transferred with the patient. It is anticipated this will not only improve quality of care for patients but
support with system pressures by reducing inappropriate conveyances and admissions. Whilst
Care Homes are not included in the initial launch due to IT and integration, workstreams are
ongoing to increase care home calls directly to SPoA to still enable the ReSPECT document to
support clinical decision making.

28

67



Learning from recent in-depth ED audits across ED departments over the summer have informed
and supported the frailty and end of life work and as a consequence additional actions agreed
across partners as outlined below.

The aim the ED audits across the system was to understand factors contributing to rising ED
attendances, particularly among walk-in patients, by identifying patterns and evaluating whether
alternative care pathways are being effectively used to prevent unnecessary attendance.

The second part of the audit included reviewing the utilisation of the SPoA by WMAS Call Before
Convey process.

Additionally, the review included the effectiveness of ED front-door streaming in directing patients to
appropriate internal and external care pathways.

Agreed actions:

WMAS

ICB

Resuscitation Guidance: Confirm WMAS policy when a RESPECT form is in place.
Training: Work with the ICB to deliver frailty and end-of-life care training at WMAS bases
across the ICS.

Frailty Reactive Care Pathway: Review and agree the frailty reactive care pathway through
the UEC Programme Board and implement across all Places.

Proposed Reactive Care Pathway for people
living with frailty
Patient in usual

place of resident
deteriorates /
becomes unwell
— . . . UCR
response

Community

. frailty
Services inc. GP Commymty )
/ Care Home Hospital Frailty
Team /
Neighbourhood SDEC ]
Discharge

teams

Remain
inusual
setting

Admit to

Ongoing
care
support /
eablemen

to usual
setting

Virtual ward /
Hospital at
Home

Care Coordination: Ensure clear plans for managing patients at high risk of deterioration
and those on end-of-life care pathways within neighbourhood health plans.

111 to SPoA Review: Assess effectiveness of current 111 to SPoA arrangements by
PLACE.

Primary Care Messaging: Reinforce consistent messaging that SPoA should be the route
to acute services (not 999 unless life-threatening); Hereford activation date pending.

Care Home Support:
o Finalise deterioration pack and SPoA-based algorithm
o Develop a feedback loop to primary care when a conveyance is not needed.

29

68



e SPoA Access for RESPECT Patients: Ensure families of patients with a RESPECT form
have access to SPoA contact numbers across counties; include in UEC specification.

« Digital Integration: Explore the feasibility of a cross-boundary UEC IT solution.
Acute Providers
o Community Diagnostic Centre Access (CDC): Explore direct access to CDCs in each
county to reduce ED attendance.
o Front Door Streaming: Ensure front door streaming is established with automatic access to
SDEC services ahead of winter.
o Frailty SDEC: Further develop and enhance SDEC services for frailty.

It is planned for these actions to be delivered over winter with an evaluation of impact in the form of
follow up ED audits in February/March 2026

Children and Young People
For winter 2025/26 we are committed to:
e Through system engagement / representation at Children and Young People (CYP) board
with wider system partners to ensure escalations can be raised and to ensure consistent
messaging can be shared with wider stakeholders, commencing August 2025

¢ Maintain same day urgent access initiatives across the ICB, ensuring additional capacity
within General Practice offering a combination of face to face and virtual appointments
across a county wide footprint.

e Update and distribute the Common Conditions guidance document to primary care
providers, as well as exploring the development of educational videos on common
conditions.

¢ Provide parent education on appropriate healthcare access points (“where to go” guidance),
commencing July 2025

¢ Continued engagement sessions are across the ICS to understand parent/ carer/ CYP
feedback

e Promote Pharmacy First through posters and leaflets tailored to school-age health concerns,
as well as supporting national media campaigns

e Further promotion of the Paediatric HANDi App, with a focus on parent/carer and school
communities via local press and social media.

e Support for school staff on how to effectively signpost parents/ carers to appropriate
services.

o Deliver asthma training, guidance, and factsheets to schools, supporting the development
of Asthma Friendly Schools.

e Enhanced Social Media messaging about managing RSV, clinical information for parents on
HandiApp. Parent information within General Practice, commencing July 2025.

e There is an agreed MH urgent care multiagency pathway which is available 7 days a week,
with assessment capacity, for adults and children. Children and Adolescent Mental Health

(CAMHS) Crisis Team operate 7 days per week, to ensure that CYP have the most timely
and appropriate Interventions in the right place.

30

69



e Qut of hours CYP needs are met through the adult mental health crisis teams. This will be
refreshed in October / November 2025.

Mental Health Services

A full range of mental health services is commissioned for the local population, consistently across
the year. Specifically, to support the Urgent Care System during winter the following services are
available:

¢ Mental Health Liaison
e Crisis Resolution Team
e 24/7 Mental Health Phoneline

The local Directory of Services contains all relevant mental health services.

The Mental Health Liaison service provides a comprehensive assessment to all people, regardless
of age, who attend the Alexandra Hospital, Worcestershire Royal Hospital or Hereford County
Hospital following an episode of self-harm, attempted suicide or presenting with symptoms of a
mental iliness.

The Crisis Resolution Service operates twenty-four hours a day, 365 days per year, providing
mental health assessments and support for individuals in urgent and acute mental health crisis.
The team will remain involved with the patient until the crisis has been resolved and/or
arrangements are in place for their continuing care and management. Monday to Friday 09:00-
17:00 the Crisis Resolution Team (CRT) will provide support and intervention to patients aged
between 17 2 years and 65 years (or older if open to Adult Mental Health Services).

Out of hours the Team will also accept referrals for assessment for people of all ages. Generally,
patients are referred by their GP, or through local A&E services, although the CRT does respond to
requests from other services such as the police or ambulance service.

In addition, there is a Crisis Assessment Suite (CAS) within the Elgar Unit on the Worcestershire
Royal Hospital site. People experiencing a mental health crisis who require an immediate
response/assessment from mental health services, who do not need physical health treatment, will
be diverted from A&E departments and conveyed directly to the suite by West Mercia Police or
West Midlands Ambulance Service (WMAS). A&E staff can also refer when patients access A&E
independently or have been conveyed by police or ambulance services without contacting CAS.
The service is available to patients aged 18+.

Worcestershire has a health-based Place of Safety within the Elgar Unit on the Worcestershire
Royal Hospital site. The health-based Place of Safety, or Section 136 Suite, is for people detained
under Section 136 of the Mental Health Act (legal powers police use to safeguard people with
severe mental health problems) as an alternative to detention in police custody. The Elgar Unit has
the capacity to manage all ages twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week, with flexible provision
around the suite and its family room.

Herefordshire has a health-based Place of Safety within the Stonebow Unit on the WVT Hospital
site. The health-based Place of Safety, or Section 136 Suite, is for people detained under Section
136 of the Mental Health Act (legal powers police use to safeguard people with severe mental
health problems) as an alternative to detention in police custody. The Hatton Suite has the capacity
to manage all ages twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week.

Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust provide a mental health 24/7 helpline
for people who experience a sudden deterioration of an existing mental health problem or who are
experiencing problems for the first time. This covers people living in Worcestershire and

31

70



Herefordshire and is designed to offer urgent advice and support. It is operational 24 hours a day,
365 days a year.

New for Winter 2025/26 — Supporting Flow / Reducing ED delays

Recovery and improvement plan progressing ahead of schedule to improve MH inpatient
flow. Focus on proactive discharge planning, purposeful admissions, and therapeutic
inpatient care as primary drivers. Daily system sitreps in place, inappropriate Out of Area
Placements (OAPs) reduced to nil, Length of Stay (LoS) reducing in line with projection.

Multi Agency Discharge Events (MADE) events and Executive-Led MDTs in place to support
discharge of patients with long length of stay

Social Worker roles being implemented within wards to support discharge planning and
integration of services

72-hour admission pathway implemented to ensure timely assessment and discharge
planning.

Extraordinary funding panels or out of panel decision-making undertaken as required to
ensure rapid decision-making on packages of care.

24/7 Mental Health Liaison service in place across all Emergency Departments within ICS
providing 1-hour response, assessment and brief interventions. Establishment review
underway to be undertaken to align with Royal College of Psychology recommendations.

Clinically-led SMS crisis support commissioned (via SHOUT) to provide alternative means of
contacting crisis services.

Mental Health Response Vehicle (MHRV) provision in place supporting reduction in
ambulance conveyances to ED.

Safe Haven services (x2) in place and well-established, providing immediate crisis de-
escalation to prevent ED attendance.

Access to community mental health services (adults and children) above or significantly
above target to support early intervention.

Providing a 24/7 Urgent Mental Health Line in place and ensuring 95% of calls answered
within 5 minutes.

Dedicated Housing and Mental Health role in place across mental health and housing teams,
supporting strategic planning, MADE events and discharge planning.

Social Care

The Councils support some of the most vulnerable people in society, have responsibility for visible
public services like maintaining roads and pavements, street lighting, household waste sites,
libraries, and country parks to name but a few. They currently oversee around £900m of public
expenditure per year. Around 60% of our net revenue budget is spent on social care services for
vulnerable children and adults.

The Core services provided by the Councils to support the system during winter are the following:

Continued support to facilitate complex discharges through effective use of resources such
as developing an intermediate care service and refreshed Onward Care Team model

32

71



e Purchasing of Domiciliary Care to secure flow

e Here2Help community support service will deliver e.g. food parcels to individuals needing
support as well as those who are socially isolated being linked with local resources. This is a
7 day a week service and is being developed into a long-term service to support residents
with early support, advice and information, using a variety of methods, to promote
independence.

The Council will provide the following support to the system:

¢ In support of the wider health and social care system, the People Commissioning Unit and
senior social care practitioners are providing support to care transfer hubs and the
emergency department front door.

e The Councils will continue to provide social worker support to our community hospitals
helping to facilitate onward discharge.

¢ The Council will provide the following support to its people:
o All staff will be encouraged to take up flu vaccination via on-site centres, GP, or

Pharmacy
o The mental health of staff is supported by trained Mental health first aid teams, with
general well-being support via occupational health and other employment policies

¢ The most fundamental impact the council will make over the winter is to ensure their services
comply with the Discharge to Assess process — primarily in Worcestershire.

Patient Transport Service
Our Patient Transport Service (PTS) provider, EMED, play a crucial role supporting the transport of

patients to outpatient appointments in addition to provide transport home to patients who meet
appropriate eligibility.
For Winter 2025/26 EMED will provide:

¢ Onsite command and control functionality by providing a patient transport liaison officer
working in conjunction with acute sites capacity teams.

e EMED will seek to prioritise discharge activity and be responsive to particular given
challenges.

e The ICB has also reviewed eligibility for transport and as part of this review significant
capacity will be deployed supporting timely hospital discharge which will reduce the numbers
of delayed and failed discharges as a consequence of transport challenges.

See attached policies below for further information on contingency arrangements and winter rota.
o [ [ 7o
-Pgtsr;PtSLi_f?/:/jirEtPsrRFr Herefordshire - SOP Worcestershire - PTS WINTER ROTA
9 Winter PressureSno'  SOP Winter Pressure HEREFORD.pdf

The system has undertaken a review of PTS services as demand has grown significantly. The

33

72



outcomes and actions outlined below will allow the system resource to be focussed on supporting
necessary flow.

Phase 1: Review of the ‘Walker’ Category

In 2024/25, approximately 14,000 patients were recorded under the 'walker' category, indicating no
significant impairment to mobility. The purpose of this phase was to bring local eligibility criteria back
in line with national guidance, which states that patients should only qualify for Non-Emergency
Patient Transport Services (NEPTS) if they have a significant mobility impairment.

This proposal was formally approved in July 2025 through both executive and clinical governance
forums, supported by a comprehensive Quality Impact and Equality Impact Assessment (QIA and
EIA).

Next Steps:
o A comprehensive review of NEPTS patient information materials will be undertaken to reflect
the updated eligibility criteria. This will be supported by a clear communication and patient
engagement plan, developed in collaboration with Healthwatch and other key stakeholders.

¢ A meeting is scheduled with EMED, the NEPTS contract provider, on 1st August to review
the findings and agree a plan for implementation by 31st August.

Phase 2: Review of Non-Procedure Follow-Up Appointments

In 2024/25, approximately 19,00 patients were requiring NEPTS to attend non-procedure-based
follow-up appointments. Initial analysis suggests a significant opportunity to explore whether these
appointments could be delivered more appropriately via virtual platforms or telephone consultations,
reducing the need for in-person attendance and associated NEPTS usage.

Next Steps:

e Present findings and proposed approach to all clinical specialty teams to discuss clinical
appropriateness, implementation considerations, and secure engagement.

e Incorporate feedback into a final implementation plan, to be delivered through a phased
approach. This will require a full Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) and Equality Impact
Assessment (EIA), and formal approval through the appropriate executive and clinical
governance forums. The target implementation date is 31st October 2025

34

73



5. Demand & Capacity Modelling

Herefordshire and Worcestershire ICS have undertaken detailed modelling of demand and capacity
to test whether planned actions will manage the winter pressures effectively, focusing on ensuring
sufficient capacity to meet demand, delivery of 45-minute maximum ambulance handover delay and
delivery of 78% EAS performance.

The focus on these areas will deliver a ‘trickle down’ impact which will reduce significantly our
reliance on corridor care and Temporary Escalation Spaces (TES) (as the norm) and contribute to a
reduction in those patients waiting longer than 12 hours (from time of admission) in the emergency
department.

The demand and capacity modelling undertaken ahead of Winter 2025/26 suggests four key areas
of focus for our system during winter which are critical in ensuring our urgent care system is able to
manage winter.

Demand Management

Effective ED Front Door Processes

Best practice in-hospital Flow — returning to discharge to assess
Creating more virtual hospital capacity

The overarching aim is to ensure that there is sufficient capacity to absorb the forecast additional
demand, so patients can be seen and treated in a timely way in the most appropriate care setting.

Methodology for demand & capacity modelling for winter 2025/26

The capacity model maps the daily flow of patients at each main hospital site in H&W area, utilising
historic A&E and admissions data to forecast demand for this winter. The forecast demand for the
remainder of 2025/26 is based on actual activity this year and activity forecasts submitted via
annual planning for the future months of the year.

The modelling then indicates the impact of interventions described in the following chapter, which
then produces eventual outturn for the winter period. These interventions are detailed in the Place
based delivery plans.

Worcestershire demand & capacity modelling
45-minute handover

AVG Handover Times per week (25/26)

01:35:02

01:19:12

12 3 456 7 8 91011121314 151617 18 19 2021 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52

24/25 Plan

25/26 Act = = Target

35

74



EAS Performance

EAS March 2026 NANR Additional  Intemal Professional Flow - red. Pathway Flow - Flow - 'LLOS Flow - Ward
Projection NANR to 80% {navigator] Stek delays Flow -'ouwtof 5 Hospiml@Home' reduction’ Efficiency's Achieved EAS Required
90%
- AT 0.10% 1.50% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 170% 78.1% 78.0%
6.50% —
65.38% — —
I
” I
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Forecast 2025/26 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total
Predicted Atts (Main Type 1 ARE) 13650 13949 13863 14980 13385 13399 14331 14216 14230 13047 12212 14617 | 165879
Predicted Breaches based on current Daily AVG 7565 7067 6816 7306 7306 7071 7306 7071 7306 7306 6509 7306 | 86008
Total Attendances all Types (1&3) 19508 20513 20339 21242 19578 19311 20331 19524 19203 18307 17,204 21,105 | 236,166
Average number of Atts per day (Type 1) 455 450 462 483 432 447 462 474 459 4 436 47 454
Demand Reduction 1CB 4% Walk in reduction 182 364 390 387 387 355 332 398 2613
NANR to 80% 735 1470 1519 1470 1519 1519 137 1519 10388
NANR additional (Navigator) 225 450 465 450 465 465 420 450 3165
| internal Professional Stds 15 30 3 30 31 31 28 31 12
Interventions X
Breach Reductions Flow - red. Pathway delays 150 300 310 300 310 310 280 310 2120
Flow - 'out of 5' 75 150 155 150 155 155 140 155 1060
Flow - 'Hospital@Home' 15 30 3 30 31 31 28 31 212
Flow - 'LLOS reduction' 125 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 175
Flow - Word Efficiency’s 125 250 250 230 250 250 250 230 1750
Revised Attendances 19508 20513 20339 21242 19395 18947 19941 19138 18816 17952 16871 20708 | 233371
Revised Breaches 7565 7067 6816 7306 5954 4366 450 4366 4500 450 4056 4535 | 65503
Revised Performance (%) 61.2% 65.5% 66.5% 65.6% 69.3% 71.0% 71.3% 71.2% 76.0% 74.8% 76.0% 78.1% 71.89%
Quarterly Performance (%) 64.47% 70.42% 76.84% 76.39%
Performance Gain 0.0% 6.6% 13.6% 13.3% 13.4% 14.0% 14.7% 14.3% 12.7% 8.3%
Planning Submission 2025/26 55% 57% 5%% 63% 67% 68% 1% 5% 3% 76% 76% 8%
ED Attendances per month Current 4 HR EAS Current Breaches Per day Breach Threshold to achieve 78% % of Pts > 12 Hrs in ED (Jun 2025) Number of 12 hr breaches AV number per day
20,120 66.49% 236 146 14.80% 2048 68
90 less breaches per day 1386 is 10% 4615 10%

Capacity
Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Emergency Admissions 2,982 3,264 3,103 3,100 3,206 3,201 3,394 3,325 2,845 3,263
AVG LOS (Em) 7.32 6.98 6.98 6.98 6.98 6.98 6.98 6.98 6.98 6.98
Bed Days (EM) 22,153 22,783 21,659 21,638 22378 22,343 23,690 23,209 19,858 22,776
Unmet ED Demand (17 per day) 515 527 527 510 527 510 527 527 476 527
Unmet Bed Day demand (2.5 LOS) 1288 1318 1318 1275 1318 1275 1318 1318 1190 1318
Non Elective beds required 781 777 741 764 764 787 807 791 752 777
Elective beds required 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52
Beds Required 833 829 793 gle gle 8390 859 843 804 829
Beds Available 811 811 811 811 811 811 811 811 811 811
Baseline Occupancy 102.8%  102.3% 97.8% 100.6%  100.7%  103.5%  105.9%  104.0% 99.1% 102.2%
Winter Focus

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
Beds Required 852 843 835 770 794 824 811 765 746 746
Beds Available 811 811 811 811 785 795 795 805 785 785
Planned Occupancy 105% 104% 103% 95% 101% 104% 102% 95% 95% 95%

75



108.0%
106.0%
104.0%
102.0%
100.0%
98.0%
96.0%
S4.0%
92.0%
90.0%
BB.O%

Worc Acute Bed Occupancey: projected vs planned

Aug Sep

Oct

Now Dec Feb

— BEElNe OCCUPENCY = Planned Occupancy

Mar

The Waterfall charts suggest on these scenarios there should be sufficient ‘head room’ to manage

winter.

Please note that for Worcestershire this does not yet include the impact of returning to Discharge to
Assess within WAHT over August and September 2025 and the predicted 2.3 day reduction in
length of stay. Further triangulation work required during August 2025 to update waterfall chart.

Herefordshire demand & capacity modelling

45-minute handover

01:30:00
01:15:00
01:00:00
00:45:00
00:30:00

00:15:00

1 3 5 7

24/25 Actual Handover

EAS Performance

800%

600%

s50%

Miareh 2026 Prajectionta UEC Capital Bid - Plans for
schames Super SDEC

Avg Handover Times Per Week (25/26)

S\

9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29 31 33 35 37 39 41 43 45 47 49 51

Incresse staffingte  Wark e imarave D

improve ED weskend flow access to GP OON service

flste & twilight Sg0r sttt}

Avg Actual Handover

Avg Forecasted Handover

- --- Target

78%

priste performance: lacal tuget thefront daars: roll out

imprave Implement Criteriata PO adm ision avadance

Admitin 0

111 diverts 1o @
- gainehare s greemert

Bas incluging orgoing  NMSEacu
o dailyintemal validation  taoling

76

UCRStep upVW Projection March 2026

37



Predicted Atiendances (main A3E) B9 ¢ B2% | B2 L B479 ; BFG  63: L GFRT ! GABD ¢ GRM | BT L BOM 1 BGEI ¢ 7ROA

Predicted Breaches based on current average daily 084 296 TR0 OZBEE 263 2430 ¢ ZBRR © 2520 ¢ 2790 ¢ 2R3 U 23 ¢ ZB0% ¢ 323N
Total Attendances - All Types 7241 7355 ¢ 7693 7809 : 7G4  THB1 i BIN ; 7770 ; 7998 | 7346 7268 ; 8224 92720
Lwerage Wumber of Attendances per day (main ARE) 204 203 it 209 206 3 ] 2k B 198 7 2 il
Tot Footfall reduction 1] 1] 0 0 70 29 0 220 ¢ 225 ¢ 230 0 2% 2B/ ¢ 2% 1765
Breach reduction 1] 1] 0 5 © 340 . 409 ; 464 490 ; 506 | 580 | 691 ; W43 | 4647
Revised Altendances A1 7355 0 7693 0 7B0I : 7474 0 7A46 | 7BO1 | 7545 : 776B | 7T 7033 | 7989 | 90355

Revised Breaches JoB4 0 2915 0 2760 ¢ 2501 ;. 2295 | 2081 2202 ¢ 2030 : 2284 | 2050 0 1701 | W60 ; 27663

Quarterly Performance [ %]

Performance gain |46 55% | 7.0%

Planning Submission 202526( | 68.3% = 686% | 696% | B.9% i 706%  TI8% | TOX% | A%%  702%  M9%  75r% | WO%

Capacity
% Occupancy and Escalation Beds

140% Bl
130% 70
100% —W &
5

B3¢
4

B3
30
i L 20
20% 1o

0% 1]

Apr My Jun Jul Buig Sep Dt Moy D Ran Fab Il ar

Escalation f Boarde rs e [ 5y e e [y 55

The Waterfall charts suggest on these scenarios there should be sufficient ‘head room’ to manage
winter.

38

77



6. Providers Headline Winter Initiatives

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (WAHT)

High Level Aims:

Across all Divisions
* Improved Ward and Board rounds
Reduction of outliers - right bed, right place
Robust monitoring of internal professional standards

Reduced internal delayed days between discharge ready date and discharge

Reduced external delayed days between discharge ready date and discharge — supported by partners
Improved specialty review times and removal of unnecessary bed moves

Reduction of Long length of stay patients (supported by system partners)

Medical Division Surgical Division

Length of Stay reduction via use of: Length of Stay reduction via use of:
* Hospital at Home — phased increased capacity / increased use of s Reconfiguration of T& O
community step down ¢ Hospital at Home — FNOF

¢ Out by 5 - General Medicine and Frailty
Streaming navigation / improved triage times at front door
Improve non admitted, non-referred performance
Service review for Frailty at front door

Specialised Clinical Services Division Women's and Children’s Division
* Optimisation of assessment pathways

* Enhanced senior medical decision-making support for paediatrics
during peak times

Enablers

Implementation of EPMA — will identify areas for improvement in ordering and delivery of TTOs.

Reduced delayed days between discharge ready date and discharge, supported by D2A improvements

Constitutional standards bid for bed management system to prevent outliers and increase ‘pull and push’ from ED and SDEC.

Strengthened community collaboration with Acute management of community hospital wards for rapid discharges / enhanced UCR support, care home
neighbourhood team support, Frailty Delivery Plan.

Increased access to alternative services via the single point of access.

Hospital @ Home:

e 8-week Plan, Do, Study, Act (PDSA) cycle complete (111" July 2025).
Patient feedback training via Care Opinion has taken place.
Delivery efficiencies are being realised and implemented via PDSA, including Board Round,
Visit Allocation and triage paperwork efficiencies.

Locally it has been agreed at Worcestershire Place to rebrand virtual wards; Hospital at Home. This
new model helps to develop a blueprint and governance structure which will enable services to
support hospital reduced length of stay and admission avoidance through their specialist
virtual/Hospital at Home wards. The Hospital at Home model will support clinicians to refer, monitor
and support patients in their own homes.

A phased approach will be taken with the hospital at home model to ensure it is evidencing positive
patient outcomes and value for money:

o Phase 1 - Include an 8 week PDSA incorporating an Acute Medical Hospital at Home ward
centralised through the Single Point of Access. The Single Point of Access is a central hub
receiving calls from the ambulance service, NHS 111, Primary Care and Community Nursing
services to support admission avoidance. This commenced at the end of May 2025. Phase
2 is expected to launch by December 2025. Initial plans propose an increase of 26 beds,
focusing on admission avoidance as well as step down from the Acute Trust, with a focus on
care homes as well as some additional COPD Virtual ward capacity.

39

78



Phase 1 focused on the stepping down of patients from assessment areas within WAHT,; this
includes Medical Short Stay Unit, Acute Medial Unit and the Emergency Department. These
areas have been selected following a scoping exercise that identified patients that could be
transferred to a Hospital at Home ward prior to a ward admission. The Hospital at home
workforce (Nurse consultants and Advanced Clinical Practitioners (ACPs) have actively in-
reached into these areas Monday to Friday to identify patients suitable for hospital at home.
There is an assumption that over time, culture changes and education will lead to the need
for in-reach to be reduced as practice will be embedded to refer to the service via the SPoA.
This approach will support scalability and cost-effective development as less Nurse
Consultant and Advanced Clinical practitioner time will be needed providing in-reach.

This model has included:

Additional advice and guidance available from Geriatricians and/or Acute Medical team as
needed. Urgent Community response will also available.

Advanced Clinical Practitioners will be aligned to the SPoA and will hold the caseload. They
will be doing visits as needed and working alongside the local Neighbourhood teams who will
also support with the face-to-face visits as appropriate/ needed.

Daily Board round to review NEWs/Bloods/ plan of care.

Escalation route back set up via SPoA and into Medical Same Day Emergency Care / Frailty
assessment unit as appropriate. In times of no capacity, patients may need to attend via the
Emergency Department.

Inclusion and Exclusion criteria as detailed in a local standard operating procedure (Draft in
Appendix 1)

PDSA methodology being built into daily board rounds to foster learning culture, including
learning from readmissions with assessment of risk and adjustment to processes.

All patients (Rockwood >5) to have a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment whilst on the
Hospital at Home ward.

Staged on-boarding of beds. Initial aspirations were 15 beds, and to increase to 20-30 beds
within the first 3 months. However, due to concerns of limited workforce numbers at
weekends, it is currently running with 9 beds.

The image below demonstrates the process for the in-reach model.

Herefordshire and Worcestershire Worcestershire
Health and Care Acute Hospitals
HS Tru: MHS Trust

Patient Review & Monitoring & Decision &

e e . Follow Up .
Identification Admission Escalation Outcome

Ptinformed of i

First escalation a
WRH admission to H@H ACP Daily Ward Ro
- supplied leaflet
- e

ACPs assess at Pt discharged from Gl b ol Criteria Led
patient contact /

=
=
2

Sunrise

isch a
non-contact Discharge Plan

De‘cision b'flsef:i Gontact
on inc/ex criteria Pt admitted to documented
- Are suitable for H@H (Sunrise?) (EMIS)

COPD VW?

Third escalation

MSDEC via SPA

Emergency via 999

40



Initial Benefits:

o To date 33 patients admitted onto Hospital at Home, including 2 from outside of WAHT
e Average Length of Stay on Hospital at Home is currently around 4.4 days per patient.

e With patients from the Acute having an average length of stay of 1.2 days prior to being

admitted to Hospital at Home

e 18/33 patients have been admitted direct from A&E with 9 from Acute Medical Unit (AMU)

and 6 from Medical Short Stay Unit (MSSU).

¢ 9 have these patients have been re admitted.

o There has been an estimated total of 137 Acute bed days saved which equates to around

4.75 days per patient.

o At the time of writing this report, 4/33 patients were currently still under the Hospital at
Home, with one patient having been there for 18 days

Frailty Front Door:
Early Hours

¢ New pain, fascia iliaci and nutrition protocols currently being reviewed for approval

Proposed PDSA to cohort all Neck of Femurs (NOFs) in Trauma A & utilise Beech C as a

step down for medically fit patients waiting for a pathway or patient appropriate for ‘out by 5’

Standardisation of treatment

e 5-day service in reach service implemented and PDSA developed to test the change. Report

out Mid July 2025.

o Reconfiguration of surgical beds approved and implemented. All NOFs admitted on Trauma

A, then Beech after 48 hours

e Solution developed to record NOF Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA) review on

Sunrise by utilising Acronym expansion
Progress so far:

Jun-25

Days LOS on FFA: Weekly

°
H
g
3
Y
&

N

pays ALL LOS for Ortho-geri: Weekly

80

41



Single Point of Access:
e The service went live December 2023 and has implemented a continuous improvement
approach to increase the volume and type of referrals received into the SPoA and the
outputs available to it.

o Continue to work with Directory of Services lead and 111 to increase Adastra numbers to
reduce ED attendance and to improve patient experience.

o Complete options appraisal document to look at the rescoping of the SPoA to include single
line management options.

e Aim to reduce ED attendances by 4% over winter 2025

Progress so far:

Atts Weekly Acute SPA Referrals

SPA Adastra, 18/12/2024

s__ A\ A
- P S S N
AVARVaa vay; A\'A‘“VNW\I --------- aaV\VAVA

Arts Rejfs to Community SPA: weekly Numbers
a -
f.\[\"\
——————————————————————————————————————————— ! i——.————.\——.—-.——-r————."."-,'-'———————.
N - -
A A SN NA S
e e - — W A S S —— o _
B
Bt AN M

Improvement Initiatives covering site management, flow, Internal Professional Standards,
Operational management:

Flow and Discharge

e Emergency Care Improvement Support Team (ECIST) support for Board round review and
best practice — timescale TBC. 2 wards at Worcester Royal Hospital and 2 wards at the Alex
initially, with train the trainer approach to be adopted. Model board round to be recorded by
executive triumphant.

¢ Internal discharge process: planning for discharge programme

¢ Ward based LoS reduction plans and discharge targets developed

e Long LoS reduction trajectory developed

e Discharge Ready Date relaunch

Acute Operational Management and Oversight
o ED care navigator pilot commenced — week 2, with navigator streaming at front door to

alternatives — week 2 focus on surgical pathways, after positive Transfer of Care in medical
pathways week 1

42

81



¢ Reconfiguration of surgical bed base complete — initial metric review underway
o Reconfiguration of medical bed base — 1st August 2025 target date

e GP in ED relocation plan developed

o ECIST 12 patient pathway review this week — findings to inform next steps

e ED huddle relaunch — August 2025

o ED rota assessment — moving shifts to support delivery — from August 2025

Internal Professional standards
e Adopting GIRFT Acute Care Standards
o Divisions and Directorate developing gap analysis and implementation plans
o Circulated and socialised with clinical team
e Metrics and monitoring agreed — dashboard development

Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust (HWHCT):
Delivering the System Wide Discharge Programme

¢ Returning to Discharge Assess for complex pathways by September 2025. This will
contribute to reducing the number of patients waiting over 21 days within the Acute Trust
Setting, by reducing community hospital length of stay by 2.3 days

o Delivery of bespoke in-reach services to Acute Frailty Unit (AFU)/Acute Medical Unit (AMU)
and pulling patients from assessment areas ahead of admission to in-patient wards

Improving Community Bed Optimisation

o Phase 1, Length of Stay reduction programme in place — delivering reductions from 29 days
LoS to 25 days LoS commencing September 2025

e Phase 2, Length of Stay reduction programme — delivering reductions from 25 days LoS to
23 days LoS by March 2026

o Stroke Rehab LoS programme in-place — delivering reductions from 42 days LoS to 30 days
LoS by March 2026

Trust Level Trajectory - Length of Stay Reduction and
Total Number of Discharges - 23 Days

350 40.0 "
o 300 35.0 .5
£ 200 T L 2%%
(0} o
3 150 15.0 ®©
<>E 100 10.0 é

50 50 O
0 00 ®
“5 > O cCc Q a ’5_ > c 5 D a ‘5 > 0O c QO E ’5_ > C S5 D Q ‘6’ > 0O c QO E @)
S28852228333285283822833283288¢82  F
2023 2024 2025 2026
mmmm Total Number of Discharges Required with Bed Closures —@— Discharged ALOS 2

Improving Urgent Community Response (UCR) responsiveness and increasing activity
¢ Planned 4% increase across UCR activity through Winter 2025/26 to support:

43

82



Wound Closure Pilot and roll out

Hospital at Home activity

Enhancing nighttime cover / effectiveness

Further collaboration with the Single Point of Access and preventing ED
attendances

Optimise utilisation of UCR GP — leading to increased activity being accepted via
the SPoA & WMAS portals

O O O O

O

Children and Young People
o Sustained delivery of the children’s community respiratory pilot, contributing to
significant reductions in ED attendances through Winter 2025/26
o Increase in children’s community nursing to support end of life patients through
winter 2025/26

Wye Valley NHS Trust: (WVT)

Valuing Patients Time Programme

The Valuing Patients Time 2025/26 plan has been designed by both clinical and operational leads,
cross referenced against the UEC GIRFT checklist and aligned to the 2025/26 WVT UEC planning
submission and the ICS Sustainable Future Programme around Frailty (Including end of life
management).

Valuing Patients Time UEC workshops were held over May and June 2025 with MDT Clinical and

Operational teams co-designed measurable tests of change to be delivered between 16th June —
11th July 2025.

High Level Aims:

Integrated Care Division Medical Division
Rapid Emergency Assessment Care Team (REACT) Ambulatory Care Improvements incl. UEC Bid &
implementation SDEC flow improvements
Support delivery of Neighbourhood health Criteria to Admit implementation
Support discharge processes (linked to D2A Internal Professional Standards and Length of Stay
improvements reported via One Herefordshire) improvements
Increase use of Community Integrated Response Hub Strengthen Navigation at the Front Door to internal
and support increased Call before Convey / 111 and external pathways
referrals away from ED Deliver sustainable VW
Increase VW step up and IVOPAT Increase external referral to SDEC pathways
Surgical Division Clinical Support Division
* Internal Professional Standards and Length of Stay * Optimise Clinical Support Division contribution to
improvements opportunities for pre-hospital & acute floor pathways
* Surgical SDEC optimisation e.g CDC & Front Door Pharmacy

Specific Interventions: Urgent Community Response/ ED/Attendance Avoidance:

44

83



N L N

Increase UCR activity and enhance Deliver Neighbourhood Health — Urgent

virtual ward capacity / utilisation Neighbourhood Services

VW- Primary Care step up Urgent Community Response — Continue to increase activity utilising Call before
FSDEC Bridging Admission/Conveyance/Attendance convey/ED navigation/Call Before Admit/111
UCR/SPOA enhancements Avoidance redirection/Support SDEC discharges

Increase occupancy- remodel based on GIRFT
recommendations to ensure occupancy maximised

Virtual Ward — Reducing LOS/Admission

Avoidance
Increase the number of patients Primary and Community Care — Deliver Neighbourhood Health- Multi Disciplinary
receiving urgent care in primary, Admission Avoidance approach
community and mental health settings Avoid admissions by supporting patients at home
PCN Frailty through formal MDT approach at PCN level focusing on

agreed cohorts

Specific Interventions / Milestones — Emergency Dept & Same Day Urgent Care:
Action
Owner
= : ......l
+ EDwalk around 22/05 to finalise plans. Dawson
* Implementation by March 2026 (SDEC plans submitted within this) (SRO)

Increase staffing to improve ED weekend flow SB
* Increased Friday late Spdr shift from 11/04 and will ‘watch & wait’ to monitor improvements to weekend flow
* ED medical staffing (night) business case transition plan to be costed up for exec sign off

SDEC Optimisation DH/SB
* Engage with Surgical Division for SDEC moves

* Super SDEC related to UEC Capital Bid development

* Re-socialise SDEC admission criteria & greater use of ‘pull models’

Remove FUPs in MSDEC SB/IC
* Review, refine and re-share SDEC criteria stopping all inappropriate referrals from 19/05

)+ Monitor Type 5 attendances to identify efficiencies (today's work today)

* Possible workaround solution for SDEC referrals if permitted to upgrade Symphony

* Move inappropriate SDEC procedures to MDCU/MRU

Grip on Flow: Nursing
* Nurse leadership in line with ED Nursing Business Case (B7 leadership/B6 NIC rotation)
* Ambulance handover policy will be refreshed and go to PAG
SOP 59/57 staff aware of and implemented
*  ED Practice Education nurse tasked with ongoing education of ED nurses

Grip on Flow: Management SB/LW
* Reintroduced ED Capacity Role following adapted plans for March TOC
+ Reviewing roles & responsibilities for escalation & flow organisation wide incl. Medical Capacity role
* Increased visibility of senior leadership in the ambulance triage area to facilitate earlier ambulance handover and
improve patient flow and safety.

Improve non-admitted performance SB/IC
*  Local target 84%; ongoing internal validation.

* Minors relocated to ED footprint following test of change.

+ Explore opportunities to increase capacity in ED (medical model BC)

* Radiology conversations - Radiology runner as piloted in March 2024 TOC

* Further work with specialties to reduce delays to be seen

45

84



Maximise streaming at the front door: ic/w
* Training NHSE acuity assessment tool & IT requirement for the new acuity model in order to progress with the
project
* Ongoing and comp ies around integrated services offers i.e. CIRH
* Internal referral demand to specialties being analysed through PPB.

Maximise streaming at the front door: ichw 2x05.
* Roll out NHSE Acuity Assessment Tool 0

* Recruit into GP in ED

* Visit Worcs. For benchmarking

* Engage with GEH colleagues on front door processes

Maximise streaming at the front door: engagement with specialties ic

* Workshops to be held in light of challenges with impl d ‘WBT’ d (Exec & imp led
programme)

* Review missed opportunities audit from TOC schemes

Maximise streaming at the front door: OOH Taurus streaming TR

*  Audit & review criteria — WVT have engaged with Taurus for further opportunities but limited by Taurus
accepting criteria. Meeting with Nisha to be arranged re criteria.

Criteria to Admit iIc
Meeting held 7% May — plan to target implementation in ED & Medicine first but ANY post take wards suitable. 4
questions as part of tool. Clear need to identify other specialty channels that don’t currently exist in order to
maximise this project.

Dr Cartwright has undertaken an audit and identified the tool will only reduce admissions if other pathways are

in place e.g. SDECs, hot clinics etc. Plan for JC to present at VPTB to inform next steps.

Hereford Hospital External Audit: ED Ambulance Arrivals & Walk in attendances SW/LW
* ICB to meet with WMAS to increase the use of Call Before Convey (CBC) IC Div
UCR to ensure patients receive appropriate care at the right place and time.

Review UCR resource to enable direct access to SDEC's from GP’s/ambulance crew.

UCR include questions about ReSPECT forms as standard

Specific Interventions: Flow

D2A Board- monthly oversight Integrated Board with partners from system- monitor
commissioned D2A services and drive improvement
Discharge de|ay5 _ dall\j monitoring Monitored daily for Herefordshire, Powys, Worcs, Shropshire

and others by IDT management team

Daily meeting with Hfdshire partners to review delays
Weekly silver call with Herefordshireand Powys to review
delays

Fast track/CHC delays escalation direct to ICB

Other counties- escalation via ICB if no plans

Total Herefordshire Herefordshire | Herefordshire
P1 P2 P3
22 5 3 4 0 7 1 1 1

Optimum Level s
of Delays to
maintain low
21day LOS / Low
Bed Occupancy

Average delay 38 6 6 5 2 12 2 2 3
position

Trigger for 46 8 8 6 3 14 3 3 4
escalation outside
of silver meeting

Priority Service Intervention

Reducing Levels of delayed discharges D2A-Reducing delays/LOS Support Powys Transformational

VW OPAT Programme to deliver improvements
D2A Improvements related to discharge delays-ring fencing

capacity and access to Powys community
services for SDEC capacity

Continue to work with system to further
improve D2A process with focus on bedded
capacity

Discharge follow up to prevent
readmissions

85

46



7. System Functions

System Co-ordination Centre

This System Co-ordination Centre (SCC) specification builds on the previous version released in
August 2023. It reflects the expansion of the national OPEL Framework and broad learnings
following implementation of version 2.0.

The System Co-ordination Centre is open 7 days per week, 08:00am to 20:00pm.

‘System’ refers to Integrated Care System (ICS). The SCC provides an operational platform
within the ICS for the whole health economy, including local authority, primary care, and
voluntary, community and social enterprise partners.

This SCC specification makes clear the purpose, key deliverables and minimum operating
requirements, referred to as the Required Operational Standards (ROS), that all SCCs
should meet.

The SCC exists to be a central co-ordination function for providers of care across an ICS
footprint, with the aim to support patient access to the safest and best setting possible

As part of their role, SCCs will be responsible for the co-ordination of an integrated system
response using the Operating Pressure Escalation Level (OPEL) frameworks alongside
constituent ICS providers and ICB policies. The OPEL frameworks contain specified and
incremental core actions for the SCC at each stage of OPEL escalation

The SCC is responsible for facilitating interventions across the ICS on key systemic issues
that influence patient flow. This would include a concurrent focus on UEC and the system’s
wider capacity including, but not limited to, NHS111, Primary Care, Intermediate Care,
Social Care, Urgent Community Response and Mental Health services.

The SCC is a constituent part of the ICB and, as such, should facilitate collaboration within
the system through its operational and clinical leadership. It is important that the SCC is
recognised as the ICB’s ‘real-time’ forum for operational oversight, co-ordination,
communication and decision-making.

Complementing the role of the SCC as defined in the OPEL Frameworks, the ICB will ensure
that the SCC has a defined role within system policies, covering but not limited to:

Local provider Full Capacity protocol (or similar) that seeks to maintain the timely flow of
patients through the emergency department (ED), mental health, community settings and
other parts of the health system. This may include the role of the SCC in brokering
conversations between health and social care providers on identifying capacity to support
providers within the ICS footprint at times of surge.

Protocols covering ambulance conveyance and handover pressures (or similar) that
ensures an effective response to increased pre-hospital demand, long waits in the
community for ambulances and/or an incident that requires specialised resources. This may
cover ambulance handover waits in excess of local and national thresholds.

Protocols covering access to mental health inpatient services (for all ages) or
similar that would specify system actions to mitigate risk of patient waits in excess of local
thresholds, heightened clinical risk and poor patient

47

86



e System communication policies or similar that would cover the interface between the
SCC and the ICB communication team. Enabling patient choice or providing guidance to the
public during critical events or dates should be a key aim of a joint communications plan.

¢ Inter-hospital and intra-hospital transfers or similar policies that would cover the role of
the SCC in monitoring, actioning and escalating cases of patients awaiting specialised care
or return to local hospital or place of care in excess of local and national thresholds. It would
also define a minimum level of information required to support with such transfers.

¢ Incident management including Emergency Planning Resilience and Response
(EPRR), ensures that the role of an SCC is outlined in the ICB Incident Response Plan and
describes how it will provide real-time data and system intelligence to the Incident Co-
ordination Centre (ICC)

e Protocols covering escalation of primary care pressures that seek to ensure patients
who can be treated in primary care remain in primary

e Protocols covering access to intermediate and social care including escalation of
issues to ensure a joined-up approach to co-ordination of actions in the wider system, and
to support with delays for patient transfers. This may also cover interface between the SCC
and Transfer of Care Hubs, and access to intermediate care data collections to support
monitoring of discharge delays and balancing of risk within the system

Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) 2024-2026

The NHS Constitution of England establishes the principles and values of the NHS, outlining the
rights of patients, the public and staff. It sets out the rights to which patients, the public and staff are
entitled. Patients always come first in everything we do, and the welfare of staff providing and
supporting this care should also be prioritised. The OPEL framework supports this and ensures
patients get the right treatment in a timely manner and support staff within organisations to respond
consistently to operational demands.

This 2024 to 2026 framework for the management of operational pressures is for NHS acute trusts,
community health service (CHS) providers, mental health (MH) service providers, NHS 111
providers, ICSs, and NHS England regional and national teams. Throughout this document we
collectively refer to NHS acute trusts, NHS CHS providers, NHS MH service providers and NHS 111
providers as ‘providers’, but differentiate specific types of providers where necessary.

This framework provides the core parameters that each of these types of provider must use to
determine their OPEL. It also details the process for aggregating the OPEL scores for ICSs, NHS
England regions and NHS England nationally. This ensures the operational pressures across all
levels of the NHS in England are consistently and accurately represented.

Changes from the 2023/24 OPEL framework

In developing this iteration, we have considered feedback and wider consultation on the previous
framework, undertaken empirical testing and collaborated with a broad and expert range of system
and provider representatives from across the NHS. We have also taken account of progression
within the Urgent and emergency care (UEC) recovery plan and 2024/25 priorities and operational
planning guidance.

The significant changes from the 2023/24 version are:

48

87


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/delivery-plan-for-recovering-urgent-and-emergency-care-services/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance-2024-25/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance-2024-25/

e Comprehensive revision of the existing acute OPEL parameters, including their definitions,
scores and weighting, to ensure they continue to give an accurate and reflective
representation of current needs

o Updated proportional representation for acute OPEL using the latest emergency department
(ED) attendance data to accurately reflect the current proportionality

e Introduction of 3 new pillars of OPEL, with new OPEL parameters for MH services,
Community Health Services (CHS) and NHS 111 as well as the actions to be taken in
response to changes in operational pressures within these pillars

¢ Introduction of a process for OPEL score normalisation to provide consistent OPEL scoring
across all pillars and organisations using OPEL

¢ Implementation of an overall ICS OPEL score based on the parameter scores for the acute,
CHS, MH and NHS 111 pillars. This provides an aggregated overview of the operational
pressures across the ICS using a consistent scoring method, as well as an indication of the
OPEL for each pillar

¢ Updated actions for acute trusts, ICSs and NHS England regions to ensure they remain
effective and aligned with the current and evolving operational requirements

The system escalation plan is enclosed below.

m-

Worcestershire
System Escalation Ma

Integrated OPEL framework scores

The Integrated OPEL framework 2024 to 2026 assesses operational pressure for the 4 pillars of the
UEC pathway using a set of parameters for each. This produces a numerical OPEL score and
corresponding ‘escalation level’ from 1 to 4. Compared to the OPEL framework 2023/24, this
updated framework is an iterative step towards a whole ICS representation of system pressure and
will produce the following scores:

ICS overall OPEL score

This is derived from parameters across the acute, mental health, and community health service
OPEL pillars and is based on proportional representation of each ICS using ONS population data.
NHS111 is a standalone pillar and does not contribute to the integrated OPEL score.

49

88



The table below shows the normalised OPEL score ranges, their corresponding operational
pressure escalation level and an indication of the clinical risk for each level. The ranges and

corresponding escalation levels are standard across every pillar of OPEL, ICSs and NHS

England, both regional and national.

(Normalised) OPEL score Corresponding escalation Clinical risk
level
0-15 OPEL 1 Low
>15-40 OPEL 2 Medium
>40-70 OPEL 3 High
>70-100 OPEL 4 Very high
Acute OPEL Parameters
Parameter 0 points 1 point 2 points | 3 points
1. Ayergge am.bulance handover since <15 15-30 >30-60 ~60
midnight (minutes)
2. Current 4-hour ED performance 5959 >78-95% | >60-78% <60%
percentage (percentage)
3. Current ED majors and resus <200 ano >90- o
occupancy (percentage) <80% >80-90% 100% >100%
4. C_urrent _me_dlan tlr:ne to treatment <60 >60-120 | >120-240 5240
since midnight (minutes)
5. Patients in ED over 12 hours <29, >2.5% >5-10% >10%
(percentage)
6. Patients in ED referred to service
<90 _BO Qo0 0
(percentage) <2% >2-5% >5-8% >8%
7. Bed occupancy (percentage) <85% >85-92% | >92-98% >98%
8. Patients no longer meeting <10% | >10-15% | >15-20% | >20%
Criteria to Reside (percentage)
9. Patients discharged (percentage) >30% >20-30% | >10-20% <10%
10. Beds clf)sed due to infection <0.5% >0.°5- 52 5-5% S5%
prevention control (percentage) 2.5%
50

89



Community OPEL Parameters

Parameter 0 points 1 point 2 points | 3 points
1. &%ﬁgﬁggﬁ;’ed occupancy <85% | >85-02% | >92-98% | >98%
12. E\:)Z:ggg;rgrg;aetlng criteria to reside 0-5% 55.15% | >15-25% S250,
13. zggfcae'r:’;’:gg)‘m“pa”cy <80% | 280-90% | >90-95% | >95%
14. Pathway-2 capacity and flow >100% >900- >80-90% <80%
(percentage) 100%
_QRo0 _QEO
15. Community nursing caseload vs >95- (;8RS>91%(/5)- 87R5>2%g)- <75% OR
(0] 0,
scheduled (percentage) 100% 105% 110% >110%
_ORO _QEFO0
16. Intermediate care contacts vs >95- 88RS>91%(/;’_ 87R5>ﬁ50§- <75% OR
(o) 0,
scheduled (percentage) 100% 105% 110% >110%
17. UCR 2-Hour response (percentage) >80% >70-80% | >60-70% <60%
Mental Health OPEL Parameters
Parameters 0 points 1 point 2 points 3 points
18. rI?é—:;ljltcr)]ccupancy — adult mental <85% >85-95% >95-98% >98%
18 2o e ey — el sl <85% | >85-95% | >95-08% | >98%
20. dPiz’gﬁgtrséglmlcally ready for <10% >10-15% >15-20% >20%
21. Inappropriate out of area 0 1-5 6—15 515
placements
22. (I;Isaéwaerg;ental health >3, >2-3% >1-29, <19
23. g\izréir(]a;gje;nental health >3, >2-3% 51-29% <19
24. Mental health beds closed to
admission — adult and older <0.5% >0.5-1.5% | >1.5-3% >3%
adult
25. Patients waiting for mental
health inpatient admission <1% >1-5% >5-10% >10%
(percentage of beds)
51

90




Directory of Services

The ICS has a comprehensive Directory of Services (DOS), to support access to all urgent care
services and pathways. The directory of services is regularly reviewed and plays a critical part in

ensuring the appropriate use of alternative services other than the Emergency Department.

Symptom Group Selected Service Status @Selected
Acute Chest and Upper Back Pain 175 N
Dizziness or Vertigo 83
Palpitations 68
0471272024 B 06/07/2025 B Rectal Bleeding 65 30
Service Name Falls Without Injury 53
Headache 41 o2
Al ~ | Other 41 =
site Abdominal Pain 35 ; 20
Breathing Problems, Breathlessness or Wheeze: 31 9
Al v Urinary Problems 26 —
Service Status Ankle or Faot Pain or Swelling 23 .E =
Falls or Faints Without Injury 23 3
Selected v Allergic Reaction 20 o 10
Contact Method i iy 17
Knee or Lower Leg Pain or Swelling 17 5
All | Lower Back Pain 17 A A ' J\ AA
S EET Genital Problems ; 16 o
Nosebleeds without injury 16 00:00 03:00 06:00 09:00 12:00 15:00 18:00 21:00
All V| Total 1026 Time By Min (bins)
Service Order Symptom Discriminator Selected Final Dx Final Dx Desc Selected
Al | EDfull ED assessment and management capability 558 Dx02 Refer to Treatment Centre within 1 hour 728
PC crisis response falls pick up 120 Dx124 Community Urgent Response 137
Ealllepe ED suspected pulmonary embolism 80 Dx03 Refer to Treatment Centre within 4 hours 134
Al ~ | ED palpitations 58 Dx022 Refer to Emergency Ambulatory Care within 1 hour 26
Sy e ED assessment of gastrointestinal bleed 47 Dx108 Call closed no furlherr aj:l\on 2
ED suspected acute urinary retention 24 Dx110 Community Nurse within 4 hours 1
Al | PCfull Primary Care assessment and prescribing capability 24
S T ED chest pain under 35 years 23
ED same day emergency care medical 22
Al | ALL Urgent Care Service lliness 19
ED leg pain or swelling, unable to walk 16
CN Community Nurse 12
ED suspected deep vein thrombosis 6
Total Cases ED electric shack, domestic or lesser supply 4
o DS B T T
Symptom Group Selected Service Status @Selected
U C R Wound Problems 204
Urinary catheter Problems 188
04/12/2024 B  06/07/2025 B constipstion nr 20
Predetermined Management Plan 112
Service Name Blood in Urine 93
Entry pathway 91 g
Al e Diabetes, Blood Sugar Problem 65 E 15
Site Falls or Faints Without Injury 52 =
a o Breathing Problems, Breathlessness or Wheeze 36 §
Difficulty Passing Urine 23 S 10
Service Status Lower Back Pain 20 ‘S“
— N Falls Without Injury 17 3
Urinary Problems 16
(8] Select all .
0 Rejected Abdominal Pain 15 B
W Selected Other 15
Tube and Drain Problems 15
Behaviour Change 12 0
ey Lt Bafin e Sl 12 00:00  03:00 06:00 09:00 12:00 15:00 18:00 21:00
Total 1304 Time By Min (bins)
Symptom Discriminator Selected Final Dx  Final Dx Desc Selected
PC full Primary Care assessment and prescribing 516 Dx124 Community Urgent Response 469
capability Dx05 To contact a Primary Care Service within 2 hours 329
All Community Rapid Response Service 260 Dx06 To contact a Primary Care Service within 6 hours 159
AL | CN Community Nurse 258 Dx110  Community Nurse within 4 hours 125
Symptom Discriminator PC urinary catheter management capability 164 Dx07 To contact a Primary Care Service within 12 hours 65
PC management of dressings B Dx12 Speak to a Primary Care Service within 2 hours 63
Al v PC palliative care service 15 Dx08 To contact a Primary Care Service within 24 hours 24
Final Dx ED full ED assessment and management capability 1 Dx117  Speak to a Primary Care Service within 1 hour for 15
PC drain management capability 7 palliative care
ol e PC enteral feeding tube management capability 5 Dx13 Speak to a Primary Care Service within 6 hours 15
PC severe illness assessment capability 5 Dx11 Speak to a Primary Care Service within 1 hour 13
PC urinary catheter problem AND fever 5 Dx111 Community Nurse within 24 hours 10
PC urinary retention 4 Dx14 Speak to a Primary Care Service within 12 hours 7
o) Gz PC Stoma Management 3 Dx112 Community Nurse next working day 4
1304 Total 1304 Dx15 Speak to a Primary Care Service within 24 hours 2

SHREWD, SHREWD Action, SHREWD Reporting

SHREWD: Single Health Resilience Early Warning Database

91

52



What is SHREWD Resilience?
¢ SHREWD Resilience is a real time view of system pressure, which informs system response
and individual provider actions
o SHREWD Resilience enables front line teams and operational leaders including the ICB to
identify ‘where’ pressure is across the health system within a few seconds

e Data is captured live or in real time wherever possible and shared with all providers across
the health economy

o Datais accessible on any computer, smart phone, or tablet

What is SHREWD Action & Reporting?

In addition to the existing SHREWD Reporting suite, VitalHub UK will also provide the advanced
Insights functionality as part of the existing package, this will include the following:

SHREWD Pulse Checker (Real-time KPI vs Forecast)

The Pulse Checker report provides a near real-time view of key performance indicators, across all
providers in the ICB, offering hourly updates to track and compare metrics against three
benchmarks: the previous day, the same day last week, or the forecasted values. This dynamic tool
is designed to deliver quick insights into current performance trends, enabling users to identify
patterns, spot anomalies, and make data-driven decisions promptly.

. Puise Check Dashboard - Vialhub IcB T——
Key Measures (06/09/2024 as at 11:59) = O[EE oy 2

SHREWD Insights (Monthly / Weekly Performance Report)

SHREWD Insights delivers monthly activity and performance analysis reports straight to your inbox.
Utilising data from the SHREWD system, our service will provide a semi-bespoke presentation style
report, with highlights, charting and narrative on performance and data trends across the ICB. The
data can be displayed in a variety of chart formats and analysed at a Site, Trust or ICB level.

= | i sl

e

= [l

53

92



SHREWD Health Check (Quarterly Deep-Dive Review)
Our analytics team conducts a comprehensive review of SHREWD data each quarter, focusing on
two key areas to ensure optimal performance and data integrity:

1. Performance Insights:

We identify and analyse notable trends and performance outliers from the past three months. Our
team provides detailed narratives and expert commentary to highlight key themes and opportunities
for improvement.

2. Data Quality Assurance:

We proactively detect any data issues related to key indicators, particularly where data may be
incomplete or inaccurate. Our team offers actionable recommendations to resolve these concerns
and enhance data reliability.

Points of Interest: Vitalhub Demo Hospital

There was a sudden, significant spike in patients present in the Emergency Department on Friday 17th / Sat 18th May

Points of Interest: Vitalhub Demo Hospital

Sustained 33% Increase in ED Attendances since the middle of February 2024

Sustained 40+% reduction in Time to Treatment in Majors department since the middie of February

UWI!WO

\;SNIIVW

Business continuity arrangements

All NHS organisations have a duty to put in place business continuity arrangements and have a
Business Continuity plan, under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the Health and Social Care
Act 2012. The NHS England Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and
Response (EPRR) set out these requirements for all organisations. This means that services should
be maintained to set standards during any disruption or recovered to these standards as soon as
possible.

Business continuity management (BCM) ensures organisations have a framework in place for
identifying and managing risks that could disrupt normal service due to different scenarios i.e.
Adverse weather (cold and heat), its outage, power outage etc. The holistic process of business

54

93



continuity management is an essential requirement to establish an organisation’s resilience, to
ensure providers of NHS funded care meet their business continuity management obligations.

For winter 2025/26 a further review of these plans will be undertaken as preparedness across the
system.

Please see below the SCC business continuity plan

m-

2025.05.08 HWICB
UEC_PMO_SCC Team

55

94



8. Governance Arrangements for Winter 2025/26

The ICS Urgent Care Board has strategic responsibility for ensuring that the system has robust
plans for local delivery of Health and Care consistently throughout the year, in accordance with
National Health and Care standards, and in compliance with statutory frameworks. Each place-
based system via its urgent care/general committees will be focused on performance, quality and
safety in urgent care and patient flow during winter and beyond and is accountable to the Hereford
and Worcestershire ICB Board.

As shown in the reporting structure for the ICB Board below, each place has their own UEC place
based governance arrangements, with the UEC delivery committee in Worcestershire also framing
the Worcestershire system’s formal Tier 1 response.

Reporting and Relationships:

Integrated Care Board

kD

Strategic Commissioning Committee

Quality, Resources and Delivery

Committee

Medicines & Clinical Assurance Primary Care Contracts &
Prescribing Sub- Sub-Committee Governance Sub-Committee
Committee

Decision-
making

Quality Delivery Oversight Sub-
committee

Assurance
Urgent and Emergency
Care Programme

One Herefordshire Partnership

Worcestershire
Partnership

UEC delivery
Committee

Valuing patients time
programme

Care Homes Transformation
Committee

The terms of reference for H&W UEC ICS Board are enclosed below.

i
-
ICS UEC Board - ToR
April 25 .docx

56

95



9. ICS Communications

All partners across Herefordshire and Worcestershire agree that a joint system approach has been
successful since 2017/18 and remain committed to adopting a single plan.

A local communications plan has been co-produced with ICS partners communication leads and
sets out the approach for communicating and engaging with patients, public and stakeholders.

It will support the National campaigns as well as include locally designed campaigns.

This system winter communications plan has three main aims:

* Prevention - Support on preventing avoidable health complications by keeping people
well this winter

*  Where to go for help - Supports urgent and emergency care pressures by promoting
alternative services

*  Our staff will understand the Winter plan — Detailed ICS staff comms plan explaining
what we are doing and feedback from winter planning sessions

Six things you can do to help yourself,
your loved ones, and the NHS this winter

Help to get relatives home as soon If you're feeling unwell but need
as possible when they are ready to to go out, consider wearing a
be discharged from hospital face covering if you can

Look after your mental wellbeing and
visit nowweretalking.nhs.uk if you need
support for a range of local options

Boost your immunity by getting
your flu and Covid-19 vaccines

Stay at home if you have a winter
illness and look after yourself with
advice from nhs.uk

Check in regularly on elderly or
vulnerable relatives and neighbours

P Herefordshire lﬁyl’g‘ - Not sure which NHS service is right for you? 4
‘ Pwovied Cors System. helpyou Visit 111 online for health advice at home. Herefordshire and

al Herefordshire

. . [NHS]|
mwrete  Use the right service et

Self-care

Hangovers. Coughs. Colds. Bruises Persistent symptoms. Chronic pain.
and grazes. Small cuts. Long-term conditions.

NHS 111 Minor Injury Unit

Breaks and sprains. Minor burns and
wound infections. Cuts and grazes.

Feeling unwell? Need medical
advice? No GP to call?

A&E or 999

Choking. Severe chest pain. Breathing
difficulties. Blood loss. Stroke. Sepsis.

Pharmacy
Minor ailments. Bites and stings.
Upset stomach. Medication advice.

©CO

57

96



Objectives:
*  Amplify national campaign messaging — Help Us Help You (vaccines, cancer, pharmacy,
NHS111)
*  Promote winter preparedness — 6 Things (people can do themselves), Use the Right
Services local campaigns
* Raise awareness of ways to access General Practice and Pharmacy First (MDTs,
online/digital access, pharmacy and NHS App)

2%
Weows cET VACCINATED 2553

GET WINTSTRO

We will be relaunching our two successful campaigns related to reducing the risk, largely to the
frail elderly of keeping people in hospital for any longer than needed. This campaign will be agreed
at the September ICS UEC board and rolled out between October 2025 and February 2026 across
the ICS.

Campaign materials:

Hl\l \\JI"H()" " . me_ h()I/T1e I/]Ome

l()l famulmu Imnd\

58

97



10.1CS Monitoring, Evaluation and Risks

The Winter plan is produced at a point in time and the operational position, including activity

numbers and predicted demand may change at any point due to the varying challenges our system

experiences.

All organisations should continue to produce their own operational plans for how organisations plan

to manage winter.
The Winter Plan will be monitored via:

¢ Weekly monitoring of the Winter Plan, including system winter initiatives via the weekly

winter directors meeting, which will review performance and impact of the winter plan.

o Weekly monitoring of UEC KPIs across the ICS.
¢ Use of the Integrated System UEC Dashboard.

Evaluation
A formal review on winter plan progress will be undertaken in January 2026.
To support this
- Afurther point prevalence study will be undertaken in September 2025

- Afurther 3 ED audit will be undertaken in February/March 2026

Key winter plan risks and mitigation

Risk Mitigation

Unknown schedule of industrial action over | Maintain same effective approach to

the winter period planning and EPRR system wide process
over winter

Financial recovery of system related to UEC | To ensure full delivery of Place based UEC

with reduced bed numbers/spaces over plans, with particular focus on returning to

winter discharge to assess

98

59



11. Appendix 1 — Overview of ICS and Partner Profiles

Overview of ICS

Our system comprises of a variety of NHS bodies, local authorities, primary care providers and
other organisations who together spend more than £1.7bn on providing health and care services.

"”'”"x,, A Key:
5 M, L EHE
= iddgrminster ‘ “‘, / Hospital

4+

A ~ \J +
( Sl (N +
++

PCNs:

Worcestershire

+ Wyre Forest Health

+ Nightingale

Kingfisher

Malvern Town PCN

+
+

=4 + Pershore & Upton
+

The Vale of Evesham
Health Network

d ) ( 7 Ny
+o4 ~ A~ N \/ + Droitwict

+ East

+ Wargrave House, Belmont
and Cantilupe

The ICS

How services are organised

The challenge of rurality The
single ICS in HW, compared to

Two counties (Places), each with a Healthwatch
More than £1.5bn public spend

800,000 people served the 5 ICSs in London:
Nearly 20,000 staff in statutory sector health and x2.5 the geography, but only
care roles 10% of the population

20,000+ staff in home care / care home providers

Herefordshire and Worcestershire

e

Area: 3,921 km?2

4 NHS Trusts (inc WMAS) Population: 800,000

2 Upper tier local authorities

6 District councils (Worcestershire) ] oA«
z Vo "

15 Primary Care Networks ) |

> o Guewm

79 GP Practices Loncon

122 Community Pharmacies Nt

96 Dentists

64 Optometrists Greater London

5 Hospices Area: 1,569 km2

1,000’s of VCSE bodies

1 Police Service

1 Fire and Rescue Service
1 Integrated Care Board

Population: 8,000,000
5

Our system is sparsely populated, covering 1,500 square miles with significant rural areas bringing

challenges for travel and access to services for some citizens, as well as being a low wage
economy and a cold spot for social mobility. This is in the context of a relatively high, and
increasing, proportion of our population being aged over 65 compared with regional and national

figures.

We have developed our ICS operating model around the principle of subsidiarity and local

partnerships.

There are two ‘places’ in the ICS and these are aligned to upper tier local authorities. Herefordshire

Council and Worcestershire County Council. In Herefordshire, the partnerships are built around 5

Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and a local partnership board called One Herefordshire Partnership

(OHP). In Worcestershire, the partnerships are built around 10 PCNs working alongside 6 District
Collaboratives, coming together under the support of the Being Well Strategic group, a

99

60



subcommittee of the Health and Wellbeing Board and working with the Worcestershire Place
Partnership.

Across the ICS we employ over 37,000 to deliver health care services. In addition, there are 1,400
jobs in adult social care, directly employed by the local authorities. We also have a vibrant voluntary
and community sector, alongside high levels of volunteering and social capital.

The national challenges for health and social care providers are well documented. Our system, in
common with others, continues its recovery journey following on from the Covid-19 pandemic.

Herefordshire is one of England's
!',‘f?“f."'tyi v !ltexe)‘(‘lpectancy Over 80/’ rural counties vit» 55%
counties is Sllgnlﬁcantly lower both ¢ .u- ll idermfvas | ! H‘ ljl ,‘.” !t; ”[:“ ; ”!m:)l(ler(ajl/i:g:n
than nati (V) e TLS S 1
;ﬁlijj yna ,on‘au\a‘vlexragesrhm : c{} Whlte Br'tISh ’ ! I."' it has '.%‘ enif ‘[ n
local communities. /= ‘ iy =~
Whilst the Worcestershire populaﬁon p AR (27A)'
5 Both counties have higher than b "t"y" nal average for ®) Thers 3 Moy
the national average rates for O esl 25% ofadults by i
smoking in Herefordshire adults show eOTeF:I;Ly%?d* ’a‘dlfllt‘?‘m“' .
early pregnancy, higher levels (30% « national average
but lower than national rates for p 75/: Economic inactivity @
smoking in adults. Dementia gisgnosis rates are lower than average
rates in the 69+ population hbatiy counties =
are low across the counties.
Cost of I|V|ng Bath counties have just over The 65+ population
Increas‘lng o s the two 50% diagnosis rate. / will increase by over
a i iry | rasr
37,469 (15%) of nousehoic ﬂﬂP | 44 000 2051,
are fuel poor in Worcestershire, There »'r»few.eradults with sl aquarter f the
14,145 (17%) in Herefordshire depreSS|0n in Herefordshire W ncrease being 85+. 4
but this is set to worsen. compared to national average,
14% (Over 73 000) ora| health
By year 6 both counties are ’ Sl Vo i two counties, Wort rshire
below the national average for @ performs well against the =
Prevalfnge of °,b_e5'ty There is 2 higher percentage national average, Herefordshire
Unr,ludlr1,»-,ﬁ3'c\n,-rc ubn;y.vL v : of 50., more GCSEs attained rates of children with
s erbe sctowr 10| v ranraiona |25 | dental decay
nationa e in rece ates in o rates it Herefordehire are —
Herefordshire are very sllghﬂy higher. _'.'__.__“ LA._I‘” o v 50% hlgher \IW

Overall, there has been an increase in demand and compIeX|ty of need across many services. At
the same time the population is ageing, with an estimated 44,000 more over 65 years olds living in
H&W by 2031, over a quarter of the increase being over 85-year-olds. We know that in general
older people need more access to health and care services.

Social care continues to experience increased demand and complexity of need. Promoting
independence and supporting people to live within their own homes/local community is key. The
increasing demand across the system presents challenges to maintain the core principles of the
Care Act 2014- namely to prevent, reduce or delay an individual’s needs.

Primary Care continues to see record numbers, with offered appointments being the highest across

our regional peers, wating times are on the decrease for Cancer and elective care and Urgent &
Emergency Care (UEC) performance is more stable than at any-point over the last 5 years.

61

100



ICS partners

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust provides hospital-based services from three main sites -
the Alexandra Hospital in Redditch, Kidderminster Hospital and Treatment Centre, and
Worcestershire Royal Hospital in Worcester provide a wide range of services to a population of
more than 600,000 people in Worcestershire as well as caring for patients from surrounding
counties.

Last year, they provided care to more than 250,000 different patients — that is over 40% of the
Worcestershire population that received care at one of our hospitals.

e 170,000 A&E attendances

e 143,000 Inpatients

e 670,000 Outpatients

e 4,600 births

e 4,700 babies

[ ]
They employ over 7,500 people and around 400 local people volunteer with them helping to deliver
care. They have an annual turnover of over £400 million.

In 2024, Worcestershire Acute Hospital’s Trust joined the Foundation Group family of South
Warwickshire NHS Foundation Trust, Wye Valley Trust and the George Elliot Trusts. Since joining
the Foundation Group, they have identified ten priority areas which are the focus of our current work
and which help staff in all parts of the Trust to understand the part they have to play in delivering
and sustaining improvements, with flow and HomeFirst mindset being extremely key in relation to
UEC.

10. ‘BIG MOVES' 1. FOCUS ON FLOW
We will test and refine our priorities to make sure we are meeting We will work together to make sure that patients in need of urgent care do
the needs of patients, while delivering improvements to achieve our not spend a minute longer in any part of our hospital than they need to

Group's shared long-term strategic objectives and ‘Big Moves'.

We will build partnerships regionally and A focus on prevention and increased use of
across the Group which improve care for our same day emergency care will help keep

patients and secure a sustainable future for people at home, protecting them from
our more challenged or fragile services . hospital acquired functional decline,
infections and falls

9. PARTNERSHIP WITH LARGE @ @ 2. HOME FIRST MINDSET/
SPECIALIST (TERTIARY) PROVIDERS - : THERE'S NO PLACE LIKE HOME

‘aje
" @

~
, TEN <
) We will actively wor!( with partners to ’ <~ POI NT - L / We wiH_ make sure that every patient on
improve the wellbeing of the communities . our waiting list gets the most timely
we serve, deliver better health outcomes PLAN treatment possible

and reduce pressure on our services

7. AWARD hd 4. STAFF EXPERIENCE
IMPROVEMENT SYSTEM / \ Making our hospitals even better places to
We will simplify our improvement system to / \ waork will help us to attract, and keep, the
support the delivery of sustainable quality,
safety and efficiency improvements. o

&

best people and deliver even better
patient care

1N\
Ooo
6. GOVERNANCE 5. LEADERSHIP AND STRUCTURES
A revised performance and accountability framework will support the We will empower leaders at all levels of the organisation
delivery of sustainable quality, safety and efficiency improvements. - fewer priorities, clearer expectations and genuine accountability,

underpinned by more effective structures.

62

101



Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust

COURAGEOUS | A S RESPONSIVE = EMP ING SU

Across Herefordshire and Worcestershire the trust provide mental health and learning disability
services for children, adults, and older people. Care is provided in the community, in clinics,
inpatient wards and through crisis services.

In Worcestershire, the trust also run local community hospitals, recovery units and minor injury
units, and deliver nursing and therapy care in people’s homes, care homes and other community
centres. The trust provides children’s paediatric services deliver a range of ‘early years’ support,
including health visiting and school health nursing. They also run sexual health services through a
combination of clinic and outreach teams and provide community dental care for people who may
need some additional or more urgent care.

During 2024-25, the Trust received 1,169,435 patient contacts, of which 369,145 were contacts to
mental health services, while 41,830 patients visited the trust MIU’s, and over 3,000 patients were
admitted to community and mental health inpatient — wards.

We p,—oVI.de '- C
Om,

Bromsgrove
Tenbury Wells

Worcestershire

Bromyard Redditch

Leominster

Herefordshire

Hereford

Ross-on-Wye

- %Udanm 'sdnolﬁp“ew -

63

102



Wye Valley NHS Trust

Wye Valley NHS Trust is the provider of healthcare services at Hereford County Hospital, which is
based in the city of Hereford, along with a number of community services for Herefordshire and its
borders. The Trust provides healthcare services at community hospitals in the market towns of
Ross-on-Wye, Leominster and Bromyard.

The Trust has a workforce of around 4,290 providing a range of specialist and generalists functions.
The Trust has strong clinical network connections with trusts in Birmingham, Worcester, Gloucester
and Cardiff. The Trust provides community care and hospital care to a population of approximately
195,000 people in Herefordshire and a population of more than 40,000 people in mid-Powys,
Wales.

The Trust’s catchment area is characterised by its rural nature and remoteness, with over half (53
per cent) living in areas defined as ‘rural’, with the majority of these (42 per cent of the total) in the
most rural ‘village and dispersed’ areas. Just under a third of the population live in Hereford city.
The Trust is the only secondary care provider for an area where the average age of the population
is older than the national average. This demographic is driving health and social care needs that are
often more complex than in areas where the average age of patients is lower.

64

103



Worcestershire County Council

Ensuring good Health and Wellbeing for our residents remains a key priority for the Council.

We'll work ever more closely with residents and communities to encourage active lifestyles,
0'0-9 Promoting... enabling people to live longer, healthier and happier lives. Our work with the NHS and other
¥V ¥ Health & Wellbeing care partners through the Integrated Care System will help co-ordinate our services and
.‘. N 1, h 2 - -
ensure residents receive the right care at the right time to meet their needs.

Worcestershire is a prosperous area where residents have high expectations for good quality
services. However, we also have areas of significant deprivation within our communities where
customers rely on us to provide the support they need.

S S 50.88% p— 598,100 residents (2020) 63,685
emale and
. 29,210 residents are unpaid carers with
49.12% are TP
male businesses 13,718 providing at least 50
) (2021) hours care a week (2011)

16 million 92.4% of residents

Se> @ y
visitors each year .2?9'0205'20 ' classed themselves as
(2017-2019) “ iobs ( ) 4 M9 White British (2011)
EIL?,IIO S:Ud:n*s ‘ 79.1% employment rate higher
Wmve;s(l v}t_)r | At 23% the 65 and over than regional and national x
v orcester Higher ' population is larger than average. Below average wages

Education, 2020/21) average. This is forecast
to grow to 28% of the

242,600 households population by 2043 17.9% of residents

(2019) have a long-term .

health condition or
3.4% of households have members for disability (2011)
whom English is not the main language.
1.7% of households having no members ’____,.._

with English as their main language

Healthy life expectancy in | | Increase in the % of Y [ Increase in the number of | [ People who meet the ) Permanent residential/

years of Worcestershire physically active residents people aged 65+ living service definition of 'housing nursing placements per
residents (England av. 64.7) (England 63.7%) independently for longer with support’. 100,000 people aged 65+
63.42 63.7% 2.3% 815 545.79

2021 to 2023 (latest figure) 2023/2024 (latest figure) 2024/2025 Quarter 3 2024/2025 Quarter 4 2024/2025 as at 28th Feb

“Worcestershire residents are healthier, live longer, have a better quality of life, and remain

independent for as long as possible. We will work together with partners and communities to enable
Worcestershire residents to make responsible choices, when planning their lives to achieve the best
possible outcomes. We will enable individuals to become or remain independent, self-reliant and an

integrated part of their local communities.”

In order to help people to achieve these goals we recognise that adult social care has an essential

role to play:

e Helping people to stay healthy and supported to live in their local community with choice and

control
e Providing information and services to help prevent and postpone the need for care and
support and educate people about the choices they may have if they do need care

e Ensuring social care is responsive to residents’ needs and is seamless between different

parts of the system

¢ Buying and providing services that are safe and ensuring people are satisfied with the quality

of their care and support

104

65



Herefordshire County Council

quiet Healthy
Valued Prou

City Green
Connected

Well
Hope

Welcome
Relaxed

Traffic Secure

Content Happy Communal

Herefordshire Council was established in April 1998 and took over the responsibilities of South
Herefordshire District Council, Herefordshire City Council and Hereford-Worcester County Council
and some of Leominster District Council and Malvern Hills District Council.

Herefordshire is big hearted, welcoming and friendly. We have strong and independent communities
and idyllic countryside, situated in the South West Midlands and bordering Wales. The county sits
between Worcestershire and the Malvern Hills to the east, and Bannau Brycheiniog (the Brecon
Beacons) in Wales to the west. Historically Herefordshire has been the gateway to the Marches.

What you told us

The council’s plan has been developed
with residents, partners and
stakeholders across the county.

We consulted widely to gather
feedback on our priorities for the next
four years. We held in-person and
online events, along with a survey on
the council’s website.

Nearly 1,000 people took part in

the consultation over 20 direct
engagement events including voluntary
and community groups, parish and
town councils, the sixth form college
and a wider range of groups.

People - Helping the most
vulnerable is important - help those
who need it

Place - Tackling pollution of the
e » o « + River Wye, making the built
environment more attractive

DR R R )

105

Top five objectives

The top five objectives that
participants felt should be responded
to most urgently were:

1.

2.

Support people to feel safe and
respected in their communities.
Ensure that residents can

live healthy lives within their
communities.

. Value nature and uphold

environmental standards.

. Tackle inequality and facilitate

social mobility by focusing on

early intervention and prevention
activities that enable people to live
independent and fulfilling lives.

. Expand and maintain the

transport infrastructure network
in a sustainable way to improve
connectivity across the county.

Transformation - Departments
working better together, for the
customer

Growth - Road infrastructure needs
to happen before employment land
is developed to enable growth in a
sustainable way

e

66






OFFICIAL
AGENDA ITEM 8

& Herefordshire
O Council

Title of report: Work programme 2025/6

Meeting: Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Meeting date: Monday 27 October 2025

Report by: Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Classification

Open

Decision type

This is not an executive decision
Wards affected

All Wards

Purpose

To consider the draft work programme for the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee until
July 2026.

Recommendation(s)

That:

a) The committee agree the draft work programme for Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny
Committee contained in the work programme report attached as appendix 1, which will be
subject to monthly review, as the basis of their primary focus for the remainder of the

municipal year.

b) The committee note the forward plan attached as appendix 2 and identify any
opportunities for collaboration or alignment of work.

Alternative options

1. The committee could decline to agree a work programme for its future committee meetings. This
would likely result in unstructured and purposeless meetings.

2.  The committee could also decline to identify areas of potential collaboration or alignment of work
with other committees. This could result in duplication or overlap of work.

Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Danial Webb, email: danial.webb@herefordshire.gov.uk

107



OFFICIAL

Key considerations

3.  Afundamental part of good scrutiny is planning and agreeing a programme of work for the
committee to undertake. A well-considered work programme:

a. identifies priorities for the committee’s work that align with corporate and partnership
priorities, as well as reflecting community concern;

b.  ensures that each identified topic has clear objectives that focus the committee’s work;

c.  creates a timetable for the committee’s programme of work so that the committee carry out
its work at the optimal time; and

d. provides officers and partners with requirements for evidence that will support the
committee in providing evidence-based scrutiny.

4, To prepare this work programme, the committee chair meets regularly with the relevant
corporate director and with officers of the council to identify potential priority areas of work for
the committee. These priority areas are agreed by the committee and have been scheduled
within the work programme to ensure the committee considers topics when it is most useful to
do so. A draft of this work programme has then been circulated to the council’s corporate
leadership team and other key senior directors, for further comment and refinement.

5. Attached as Appendix 2 to this report is the council’s most recently published forward plan of
key decisions.

Community impact

6. Effective scrutiny enables the committee to reflect community concern, one of the four
purposes of scrutiny as outlined by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny.

Environmental impact

7. This report contains no direct environmental impacts. However the work that the committee will
undertake resulting from agreeing this work programme may have direct impacts. Reports
arising from or supporting this work will outline their potential environmental impact.

Equality duty

8. In producing this report, officers have been mindful of their duties under the Equality Act 2010
and Disability Discrimination Act 1995. The report and appendices are written in plain English
and laid out clearly to maximise readability.

9. Although the reports themselves only provide information, they may result in recommendations
to Cabinet or a portfolio holder for action. In agreeing those recommendations, Cabinet or the
portfolio holder will need to consider the impact of those recommendations on the council’s
equalities’ duties.

Resource implications

10. This report constitutes part of the typical function of this committee. Similarly, a programme of
work undertaken by committee is an integral part of the council’s ‘business as usual’. There is
no resource implication in setting or agreeing a work programme. However agreed topics in the
work programme, in particular any requests for bespoke research or the involvement of outside

108



OFFICIAL

experts or community groups, may incur resource costs. These will be contained in any
reporting or planning of agreed topics within this work programme.

Legal implications

11. The remit of the scrutiny committee is set out in part 3 section 4 of the constitution and the role
of the scrutiny committee is set out in part 2 article 6 of the constitution.

12. The Local Government Act 2000 requires the council to deliver the scrutiny function.

Risk management

13. There are no risks identified in the committee agreeing an effective and timely programme of
work. However there is a risk to the council’s reputation if committees fail to set a work
programme, or set a programme of work that does not address local authority, partnership or
community priorities.

Consultees

14. In drafting this work programme, consideration has been given to:
a. The recent review of the scrutiny function at Herefordshire Council;
b.  The previous work of scrutiny committees;
C. Priorities suggested by members of the committee; and

d.  Work with Herefordshire Council officers to develop topics and agree optimum timings
to bring items for consideration.

15. This work programme is subject to ongoing review, which may involve additional consultees.
Appendices

Appendix 1 — Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee work programme 2025-2026
Appendix 2 — Herefordshire Council Forward Plan 10 October 2025

Background papers

None

109






111

. Herefordshire
O Council

Health Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Committee work programme
October 2025

Committee Meeting

OFFICIAL

27 October 2025 report deadline 17 October 2025 pre meeting lines of enquiry 22 October 2025

Topic and Objectives

Evidence required

Attendees*

Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust strategy
e Consider an update on progress to address the
recommendations from the CQC inspection of the trust
e Scrutinise development of the new Trust strategy
e Consider work underway to develop neighbourhood health
services

e Trust strategy update

Director of Strategy and
Partnerships, Herefordshire and
Worcestershire Health and Care
NHS Trust

Wye Valley Trust Winter Plan
e Consider the trust’s 2025-2026 winter service plan

e Trust winter plan

Committee presentation

Managing Director, Wye Valley
Trust

Healthwatch
e Update on proposals for Healthwatch

Healthwatch Herefordshire

Work programme
e Review work programme

e Draft work programme

Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Committee Meeting

Webb, Danial Page 1

17/10/25

Version number 3




AN

OFFICIAL

24 November 2025 report deadline 13 November 2025 pre meeting lines of 17 November 2025

Topic and Objectives

Evidence required

Attendees*

Herefordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report

e Review the work of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Adults
Partnership.

Safeguarding Adults Board Annual
Report

e Kevin Crompton, Independent
Scrutineer, Safeguarding
Boards

Shaping neighbourhood health
e Analyse how the health partnership identifies health needs in
communities.
e Scrutinise provision of current and future neighbourhood
health services.

Neighbourhood health bid
Taurus Out of Hours GP service
Worcestershire Council papers

e Attendees to be agreed

Patient Participation Groups

e Attendees to be agreed

Work programme
e Review work programme

Draft work programme

e Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Committee Briefing
25 November 2025 (TBC)

Topic and Objectives

Evidence required

Attendees*

Community activities services provision
e Meeting with service providers

Site visit

e Service providers

Committee Meeting

26 January 2026 report deadline 15 January 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC

Topic and Objectives

Evidence required

Attendees*

CQC Inspection of adult social care services

e Examine findings of the recent CQC inspection of adult social
care services.

CQC inspection findings
Post-inspection action plan




el

OFFICIAL

e Scrutinise any action plan arising from the inspection findings.

Q2 Better Care Fund outcomes
(If CQC inspection item not yet available)

e Evidence to be agreed

e Attendees to be agreed

Right Care Right Place

e Update on work to deliver acute community mental health
support in Herefordshire.

e Evidence to be agreed

e Attendees to be agreed

Work programme
e Review work programme

e Draft work programme

e Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Committee Meeting

March 2026 report deadline March 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC

Topic and Objectives

Evidence required

Attendees*

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

e Review work to develop a new joint strategic needs assessment
for Herefordshire.

e Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

e Director of Public Health

Health and Wellbeing Strategy
e Objectives to be agreed

e Evidence to be agreed

e Attendees to be agreed

Work programme
e Review work programme

e Draft work programme

e Statutory Scrutiny Officer

*The Corporate Director, Community Wellbeing and Cabinet Member Adults, Health and Wellbeing, both have a standing invitation to the meeting.

Q2 Better Care Fund outcomes (if CQC inspection item not ready)




viT

OFFICIAL

Health Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Meeting the Demand for Adult Social Care Task and Finish Group
Work programme

Objective To understand the extent of demand for adult social care services provided or commissioned in Herefordshire, and the likely change over
time.

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date
Understand Herefordshire’s Demographic information Charlotte Sep-Oct 25
demographics and future Worthy/Herefordshire

e Understanding Herefordshire demographic data
e Future population of Herefordshire report
e Joint Strategic Needs Assessment report

demographic change Research team

Understand the demand for adult e Current rates of demand for adult social care Zakia Loughead Sep-Oct 25
social care in Herefordshire o Type of demand (domiciliary, residential, nursing)

o Duration

o Change over time
Compare demographic change and e Desktop research comparison with ‘statistical neighbours’ | Danial Webb/Henry Sep-Oct 25
demand for adult social care Merricks Murgatroyd

compared to other local authorities

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks November
Murgatroyd 2025

Objective To explore the drivers of increased demand for adult social care, and the capacity of the local authority and other care providers to meet it.

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date

Increased complexity of demand Site visit — supported housing provider Nov-Dec 25

from an ageing population L . o . )
Site visit — third sector organisation working with older adults




G11

OFFICIAL

Murgatroyd

The nature of funding for social care | Briefing on social care funding Zakia Loughead Nov-Dec 25
ASC finance team

The size and structure of the social Overview of social care market Zakia Loughead Nov-Dec 25
care market in Herefordshire ) ) )

Meeting with care providers
Lack of housing growth, and flatlining | e Interview with Cabinet portfolio holders Nov-Dec 25
tax base
GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks January 2026

Objective To identify strategies and work carried out by Herefordshire Council and other local authorities to reduce demand, or to increase revenue to

pay for services.

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date
Assistive technology Visit to Technology Enabled Care Services (TECS) Team TBC Feb-Mar 26
Community based universal and Meeting with Talk Community Emily Lowe — Talk Feb-Mar 26
targeted services . . ) o Community
Meeting with third sector organisation
Meeting with other community team in another local authority
Market shaping and support Meeting — service director Commissioning Feb-Mar 26
Meeting — care providers’ network
Supported living Meeting — director for housing support Hayley Crane Feb-Mar 26
Visit to supported housing A supported housing
provider
In-house services and the role of Case study — Essex Feb-Mar 26

Hoople

Meeting with Hoople




911

OFFICIAL

GROUP MEETING

recommendations with committee

Henry Merricks April
Murgatroyd
Objective To make recommendations to the executive on steps that should be taken to reduce service demand and to increase revenue.
Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date
Write draft report and Draft report and recommendations Task and finish group May 2026
recommendations
Agree draft report and Draft report and recommendations Task and finish group July 2026




LTT

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL FORWARD PLAN CounCiI

This document, known as the Forward Plan, sets out the decisions which are expected to be taken during the period covered by the Plan by either
Cabinet as a whole, or by individual Cabinet Members. The Plan is updated regularly and is available on the Herefordshire Council website
(www.herefordshire.gov.uk) and from Council Offices. This edition supersedes all previous editions.

C'D Herefordshire

The council must give at least 28 days’ notice of key decisions to be taken. A key decision is one which results in the council incurring expenditure or
making savings of £500,000 or more, and/or is likely to be significant in terms of the strategic nature of the decision or its impact, for better or worse, on
the amenity of the community or quality of service provided by the council to a significant number of people living or working in the locality affected.

Current cabinet members are listed below. For more information and links papers for Cabinet meetings please visit
https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=251

Councillor Jonathan Lester Corporate Strategy and Budget (Leader of the Council)
Councillor Elissa Swinglehurst Environment (Deputy Leader of the Council)

Councillor Carole Gandy Adults, Health and Wellbeing

Councillor lvan Powell Children and Young People

Councillor Harry Bramer Community Services and Assets

Councillor Graham Biggs Economy and Growth

Councillor Pete Stoddart Finance and Corporate Services

Councillor Barry Durkin Roads and Regulatory Services

Councillor Philip Price Transport and Infrastructure

Councillor Dan Hurcomb Local Engagement & Community Resilience

Documents submitted in relation to each decision will be a formal report, which may include one or more appendices. Reports will usually be made
available on the council website at least 5 clear working days before the date of the decision. Occasionally it will be necessary to exempt part or all of a
decision report from publication due to the nature of the decision, for example if it relates to the commercial or business affairs of the council. Other
documents may be submitted in advance of the decision being taken and will also be published on the website unless exempt.

To request a copy of a decision report or related documents please contact governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk or telephone 01432 261699.

Page 1



811

Report title and purpose

Decision
Maker and
Due date

Lead officer and lead
cabinet member

Directorate

Notice of
decision first
published / ID

Issue Type
and
exemptions

FORWARD PLAN FOR 10 October 2025 ONWARDS

Page 2




61T

The following information is provided for each entry in the Forward Plan:

Heading Contains

Report title and purpose A summary of the proposal

Decision Maker and Due date Who will take the decision and the date the decision is expected to be made

Lead cabinet member and officer The cabinet member with responsibility for this decision and the officers producing the decision report.
contact(s)

Directorate The directorate of the council responsible for the decision.

Date uploaded onto plan The date the decision was first uploaded and the notice period started for key decisions.

Decision type, exemptions and Whether the decision is a Key or Non-Key decision, if the report is expected to be fully open, partly exempt or
urgency fully exempt and if urgency procedures are being followed.

Decisions to be taken by Cabinet at a formal meeting are listed first, ordered by date, and include both Key and Non-Key decisions. Decisions to be
taken by individual Cabinet Members are then listed, grouped by portfolio area and sorted by date. These include Key and Non-Key decisions.

Page 3



0cT

Report title and purpose

Decision
Maker and
Due date

Lead cabinet member and
officer contact(s)

Directorate

Date uploaded
onto plan

Decision
Type,
exemptions
and urgency

Cabinet decisions by date (Key and Non-key listed)

Local Transport Plan 5 Cabinet Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
20 November Environment
2025
Local Walking and Cycling Plan adoption Cabinet Cabinet member transport Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
To seek Cabinet approval for the adoption of the 27 November | @nd infrastructure Environment Open
Local Walking and Cycling Plan 2025
Ffion Horton, Transport
Planning Services Manager
ffion.horton@herefordshire.gov.uk
Hereford Western Bypass Phase One Land Cabinet Cabinet member transport Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY

Acquisition CPO

Resolution by cabinet to acquire land for the
construction of the Hereford Western Bypass
Phase one project through a compulsory purchase
order.

18 December
2025

and infrastructure

Scott Tompkins, Delivery
Director - Infrastructure

scott.tompkins@herefordshire.gov.uk

Environment

Part exempt

Page 4




1T

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions
and urgency
The New Public Realm Service Cabinet Cabinet member local Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
This report seeks approval to award the council’s 18 December engagerr_lent an_d Environment Open
Public Realm Service contract. 2025 community resilience
Ed Bradford, Head of
Highways and Traffic
Edward.Bradford@herefordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 01432 260786
Cabinet Member Decisions (Key and Non Key decisions)
Portfolio: adults, health and wellbeing
Reprocurement of Herefordshire Independent Cabinet Cabinet member adults, Community 3 October 2025 KEY
Adult Advocacy Services member health and wellbeing Wellbeing Open

To approve the reprocurement of Herefordshire
Independant Adult Advocacy Services, bhy way of
an open tender process.

adults, health
and wellbeing

28 November
2025

John Burgess, Senior
Commissioning Officer

John.Burgess3@herefordshire.gov.uk

Portfolio: children and young people

Page 5




[44?

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions

and urgency

The provision of a staffed and managed Cabinet Cabinet member children Children and 3 October 2025 KEY

overnight short breaks and outreach service member and young people Young People Open

children for children and young people 0-18 children and

i iSsi ' oung people
To approve the option to commission a smgle young peop Sandra Griffiths,
Supplier, through a competitive tender exercise, to | 7 November C o .
) ) : ommissioning officer
develop and deliver registered overnight short 2025

breaks service from a property owned by the
council, that will incorporate an outreach service to
deliver support within in the child’s family home
and or in the community

sgriffiths3@herefordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 01432 383141

Page 6




XA

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions
and urgency
Children’s Emergency Out of Hours Duty Team | Cabinet Cabinet member children Community 3 October 2025 KEY
(EDT) Service member and young people Wellbeing Open
children and

To agree to the direct award, by exemption, of this
contract to the incumbent service provider.

The Emergency Duty Team (EDT) Service exists
to provide an emergency responsive service for
children and young people up to the age of 18, but
in line with the Leaving Care Act 2000 the service
is available to any care experienced young person
aged up to 25.

The service is provided when a child or young
person is believed to be at risk of significant harm,
and from whom delay until the next working day
would be detrimental to their welfare and safety.
The service ensures that they continue to be
safeguarded in the immediate term.

There is a statutory duty for local authorities to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children
within their area who are in need. This is Section
17(1) of the Children Act 1989.

young people

10 November
2025

Sam Westwood,
Commissioning Officer, All
Age Disability, Community
Wellbeing
Sam.Westwood@herefordshire.gov.uk

Tel: 01432 383097

Portfolio: community services and assets

Page 7




1£4"

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions
and urgency
Retaining of the swimming pool at Peterchurch | Cabinet Cabinet member Children and 3 October 2025 Non Key
Primary School member community services and Young People Open
To approve the retention of and structural Com_munity assets
improvements to the swimming pool at services and
i assets
Peterchurch Primary School Quentin Mee, Head of
26 November | gqycational Development
2025 Quentin.Mee@herefordshire.gov.uk
Portfolio: economy and growth
Portfolio: environment
Herefordshire Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Cabinet Cabinet member Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
Strategy (H-THAWS). member environment Environment Open
To consider and endorse the new countywide environment
Herefordshire Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland 23 October . .
Strategy (H-THAWS). 2005 Mandy Neill, Senior

Landscape Officer

mandy.neill@herefordshire.gov.uk

Page 8




T4}

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions
and urgency
Solar Car Ports at Plough Lane Cabinet Cabinet member Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
To approve the scoping and construction of solar | member environment Environment Open
car ports at Plough Lane environment
31 October Katie Ainsworth, Senior
2025 Project Manager, Richard
Vaughan, Acting Head of
Environment, Rosanna
Willmott, Sustainability and
Climate Change Officer
katie.ainsworth2@herefordshire.gov.uk,
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk,
rosanna.willmott@herefordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 01432 260192, Tel: 01432 261749
Allocating the Climate and Nature Reserve Cabinet Cabinet member Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
Phase 2 member environment Environment Open

To Allocate the balance of the Climate and Nature
Reserve for the delivery of projects which will
positively impact the climate and natural
environment of Herefordshire to the benefit of all
who reside in the county.

environment

20 November
2025

Richard Vaughan, Acting
Head of Environment
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk

Tel: 01432 260192

Page 9




9T

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions
and urgency
Adoption of Herefordshire Local Nature Cabinet Cabinet member Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
Recovery Strategy member environment Environment Open
To formally adopt the Herefordshire Local Nature environment
B eyt 5500120 | 17 Apr 2025 | iy i, Serir
9 9 Y- Landscape Officer, Richard
Vaughan, Acting Head of
Environment
mandy.neill@herefordshire.gov.uk,
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 01432 260192
Portfolio: finance and corporate services
Portfolio: local engagement and community resilience
The New Public Realm Service - Fleet Cabinet Cabinet member local Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
This report seeks approval to procure the internal | member local | engagement and Environment Open
fleet required to deliver the New Public Realm engagement community resilience
Service from 1 June 2026. and
communit
resiliencey Ed Bradford, Head of
Highways and Traffic
21 OCtOber Edward.Bradford@herefordshire.gov.uk
2025 Tel: 01432 260786

Page 10




2T

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions
and urgency
The New Public Realm Service — Depot Cabinet Cabinet member local Economy and 3 October 2025 KEY
Facilities member local | engagement and Environment Open
This report seeks approval to procure and engagement | community resilience
undertake any necessary works to depot and other | and _
facilities as required to deliver the New Public community Ed Bradford. Head of
Realm Service from 1 June 2026. resilience Highways and Traffic
21 OCtOber Edward.Bradford@herefordshire.gov.uk
2025 Tel: 01432 260786

Portfolio: roads and regulatory services

Portfolio: transport and infrastructure

Page 11




8¢T

Report title and purpose Decision Lead cabinet member and | Directorate Date uploaded Decision
Maker and officer contact(s) onto plan Type,
Due date exemptions

and urgency

Capability and Ambition Fund 2025/26 Cabinet Cabinet member transport Economy and 3 October 2025 Non Key

allocation member and infrastructure Environment Open

The purpose of the report is to confirm what transport and

i il wi i i infrastructure ,
pabiiity 9 28205ctober Planning Services

Manager, Scott Tompkins,
Delivery Director -
Infrastructure, Richard
Vaughan, Acting Head of
Environment
ffion.horton@herefordshire.gov.uk,

scott.tompkins@herefordshire.gov.uk,
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk

Tel: 01432 260192

Page 12




	Agenda
	 
	The seven principles of public life (the 'Nolan principles')
	Guide to Health Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

	4 Minutes
	7 Wye Valley Trust Winter Plan 2025/26
	Appendix 1 for Wye Valley Trust Winter Plan 2025/26
	Appendix 2 for Wye Valley Trust Winter Plan 2025/26

	8 Work programme 2025-26
	Appendix 1 for Work programme 2025-26
	Appendix 2 for Work programme 2025-26


